
BYDD CYFARFOD O’R GWASANAETH ADDYSG AR Y CYD - CONSORTIWM 
CANOLBARTH Y DE YN CAEL EI GYNNAL YN 

Valleys Innovation Centre, Navigation Park, Abercynon, CF45 4SN
Dydd Iau, 28ain Mawrth, 2019 at 10.00 am

1. DATGAN BUDDIANT 
Derbyn datganiadau o fuddiannau personol gan Aelodau, yn unol â gofynion y 
Cod Ymddygiad.

Noder:

1. Mae gofyn i Aelodau ddatgan rhif a phwnc yr agendwm mae eu 
buddiant yn ymwneud ag ef a mynegi natur y buddiant personol 
hwnnw; a

2. Lle bo Aelodau'n ymneilltuo o'r cyfarfod o ganlyniad i ddatgelu buddiant 
sy'n rhagfarnu, mae rhaid iddyn nhw roi gwybod i'r Cadeirydd pan 
fyddan nhw'n gadael.

2. COFNODION 
Cadarnhau cofnodion o gyfarfod Cydbwyllgor Gwasanaeth Addysg ar y 
Cyd Consortiwm Canolbarth y De a gynhaliwyd ar 22 Ionawr 2019 yn 
rhai cywir.
.

(Tudalennau 3 - 8)
3. CYNLLUN BUSNES DRAFFT CONSORTIWM CANOLBARTH Y DE 

2019–2020 
Trafod cynigion Rheolwr Gyfarwyddwr Cynorthwyol Dros Dro 
Consortiwm Canolbarth y De. 

(Tudalennau 9 - 
46)

4. MONITRO'R GYLLIDEB 2018/19 - Y NEWYDDION DIWEDDARAF 
Trafod adroddiad y Trysorydd

(Tudalennau 47 - 
52)

5. ADRODDIAD GRANT 
Trafod adroddiad Rheolwr Gyfarwyddwr Cynorthwyol Dros Dro 
Consortiwm Canolbarth y De

(Tudalennau 53 - 



60)
6. EFFEITHLONRWYDD AC EFFEITHIOLRWYDD CONSORTIWM 

CANOLBARTH Y DE (2017–18) 
Trafod adroddiad Rheolwr Gyfarwyddwr Cynorthwyol Dros Dro 
Consortiwm Canolbarth y De. 

(Tudalennau 61 - 
124)

7. ESBLYGU HER CANOL DE CYMRU I YMATEB I DDIWYGIADAU 
Derbyn cyflwyniad ynglŷn â gwaith Consortiwm Canolbarth y De. 

8. GWAHARDD AELODAU O'R WASG A'R CYHOEDD 
Trafod cadarnhau'r cynnig isod yn benderfyniad:
“Bod y cyfarfod hwn yn cadw aelodau o'r wasg ac aelodau o'r cyhoedd 
allan o ystafell y cyfarfod, dan Adran 100A(4) o Ddeddf Llywodraeth 
Leol 1972 (fel y'i diwygiwyd), yn ystod trafod yr agendwm canlynol, ar y 
sail y byddai'n debygol o ddatgelu gwybodaeth eithriedig yn ôl diffiniad 
paragraff 14 o Ran 4 o Atodlen 12A o'r Ddeddf.”

9. TEACH FIRST 
Nodi'r gweithgareddau a'r cynnydd sydd wedi'i wneud gan Teach First 
Cymru yn erbyn y Contract ar gyfer Rhaglenni Datblygu Arweinyddiaeth 
Teach First a gafodd eu cyflwyno yng Nghonsortiwm Canolbarth y De. 

(Tudalennau 125 - 
138)

10. COFRESTR RISG 
Derbyn diweddariad gan y Rheolwr Gyfarwyddwr Cynorthwyol Dros Dro. 

(Tudalennau 139 - 
140)

11. MATERION BRYS 
Trafod unrhyw faterion sydd, yn ôl doethineb y Cadeirydd, yn faterion brys yng 
ngoleuni amgylchiadau arbennig

At: Pob Aelod o'r Gwasanaeth Addysg ar y Cyd - Consortiwm Canolbarth y De



 
 

 

 
 
 

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM JOINT EDUCATION SERVICE. 
 

Minutes of the Central South Consortium Joint Education Service. meeting held on Tuesday, 22 
January 2019 at 10.00 am at the Valleys Innovation Centre, Navigation Park, Abercynon CF45 4SN. 

 
 

County Borough Councillors - Central South Consortium Joint Education Service. Members 
in attendance:- 

 
Councillor S. Merry (Cardiff Council) 

 
Councillor J. Rosser (Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council) 

Councillor C. Smith (Bridgend County Borough Council) 
Councillor B. Penrose (Vale of Glamorgan) 
Councillor L. Mytton (Merthyr Tydfil Council) 

 
Council Officers in attendance:- 

 
Mr C. Bradshaw (Lead Chief Executive, Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council) 

Mr N. Batchelar (Director of Education, Cardiff Council) 
Ms P. Ham (Director of Learning & Skills, Vale of Glamorgan) 

Mr L. Harvey (Director of Education, Bridgend Council) 
Ms G. Davies (Director of Education & Inclusion Services, Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 

Council) 
Mr P. Griffiths (Service Director, Performance & Improvement, Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 

Council) 
 

Others in attendance:- 
 

Ms E. Thomas (Acting Manager, Central South Consortium) 
Ms L. Blatchford (Acting Manager, Central South Consortium) 

Mr A. Williams (Acting Assistant Director & Senior Lead, Central South Consortium) 
Ms D. Lewis (Senior Lead Learning & Teaching Experiences, Central South Consortium) 

Mr R. George (Strategic Lead, Central South Consortium) 
 

1   Declaration of Interest  
 

 

 Members had no personal interests to declare in matters pertaining to the 
agenda 
 

 

2   Apologies for Absence  
 

 

 Apologies for absence were received from County Borough Councillor C. Smith 
(Bridgend County Borough Council) and Ms L Blatchford (Central South 
Consortium).  
 

 

3   Minutes  
 

 

  RESOLVED to approve as an accurate record, the minutes of the  
           meeting of the Central South Consortium Joint Education Service Joint  
           Committee held on the 19th December 2018. 

 

Tudalen 3

Agendwm 2



 

 
4   Update on 16+ Provision throughout the Central South Consortium  

 
 

  The Director of Learning and Skills (Vale of Glamorgan) explained that as   
  Members of the Central South Consortium Joint Education Service Joint  
  Committee would recall that at its meeting held on the 8th November 2018,  
  Members agreed to increase the frequency of its meetings from three to at  
  least five time a year. It was agreed that this would create opportunities for    
  Members to learn from schools and other council services involved in improving  
 education outcomes. As a result of this Members requested information from    
 the Directors of Education from each Authority in respect of 16 + provision. 
 
 Each Director of Education explained the provisions available within their  
 authority. The Director of Learning and Skills (Vale of Glamorgan) updated  
 Members on the provision within the Vale of Glamorgan, it was explained that     
there are eight secondary schools in the Vale of Glamorgan seven of which have 
6th form provision. St David’s Sixth Form College Cardiff offers a similar 
arrangement for the Catholic School sector. 
 
It was explained that Stanwell and Cowbridge Comprehensive schools seem to 
have a successful uptake however; the uptake for Llantwit Major is low. 
Members were also informed of the new mixed secondary school with a joint 
sixth form. The ALPS data shows that very small numbers are following certain 
subjects which is a concern. The Director of Learning and Skills (Vale of 
Glamorgan) also highlighted the logistical issue of time and travel when learners 
attend courses in other schools.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Education for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
informed the Committee of the changes that had taken place within the County 
Borough over the last few years. It was explained that Sixth Form Provision for 
the four Secondary Schools is now provided by the new Merthyr College. The 
Cabinet Member continued to explain that at first the proposal was met with 
some concerns from parents and the public. The College provision is now 
embedded and results are pleasing to see. There is an inability to compare 
results, however outcome data is positive.   
 
The Director of Education from Bridgend County Borough Council gave an 
overview of the provision of post 16 within Bridgend. It was explained that there 
are nine secondary schools that have post 16 provision along with the Bridgend 
College. Bridgend are currently consulting on proposals to change Post 16 
provision. 
Within Rhondda Cynon Taf, the Director of Education and Inclusion highlighted 
the vast changes implemented within the County Borough in recent years as part 
of 21st Century School developments.   It was explained that currently RCT have 
two 3 – 16 Schools (Porth, Nant Gwyn), two 3 – 19 Schools (Ysgol Llanhari, 
Tonyrefail), two new 11 to 19 schools (Y Pant, Aberdare Community School) and 
further 11 secondary schools (11 to 19), although a further 3-19 Welsh medium 
school will open in September 2019 (Ysgol Gartholwg).  
 
It was explained that under the 21st Century School Developments 3 new 
schools opened in September 2018 in Porth, Tonyrefail and Tonypandy. 
Treorchy is also undergoing significant refurbishments and highly improved 
facilities are now in place, with further works planned.  
 
The Director of Education and Inclusion for Rhondda Cynon Ta also informed 

 
    

Tudalen 4



 

the Committee of the proposed changes to the Pontypridd and Cynon Area are 
currently under consultation. Proposals include a further two 3-16 schools and 
the removal of 6th form provision in 3 schools.   
 
 
In relation to the provision with the Cardiff Area, The Cabinet Member for 
Education along with the Director of Education explained the current provision of 
Education within Cardiff. It was explained that there are eighteen Secondary 
Schools, eleven of which have sixth form provision. The Cardiff and Vale 
College, St David’s sixth form College also provide 16+ provision  
There are seven Special School two of which have ASD provision.  
 
After an overview by each Local Authority Members discussed the provision in 
detail, In respect of the ALN Bill Members felt there are many issues facing the 
19 to 25 age group which will need to be looked at in the future.  
 
Members commented on the rising standards and growth in population in 
relation to the Local Development Plan (LPD). 
 
In respect of vocational subjects, Members felt there has been a push on A 
Level subjects rather than vocational subjects which may be more suited to 
some learners. It was felt that Welsh Government have been concentrating on IT 
learners etc. Members felt that pupil wishing to work in the fields such as retail, 
hospitality are not being encouraged in the right direction to follow the range of 
courses available. Members felt that work should be done to review the 
guidance and service provision of the Careers Service.  Members were informed 
of the Gatsby Project which aims to benchmark good practice in offering careers 
advice.  
 
Members continued their discussion with the Directors of Education and agreed 
to monitor 16+ Provision.  
 
 

5   Additional Learning Needs Bill Update  
 

 

 The ALN Transformation Lead Central South thanked the Committee for the 
opportunity to update Members on the work undertaken across the region to 
prepare for the Additional Learning Needs and Tribunal (Wales) Act (2018). 
 
The ALN Transformation Lead explained that the National Assembly for Wales 
passed the ALNET Bill on 12th December 2017 and after receiving Royal Assent 
became the Additional Learning Needs Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018 (ALNET) ON 
24TH January 2018.  
 
Members were informed that the aims of the ALNET is to create  

• A unified legislative frame work to support all children of compulsory 
school age or below with additional learning needs (ALN) and to support 
young people with ALN who are in school or further education (FE)  

• An integrated, collaborative process of assessment, planning and 
monitoring which facilitates early, timely and effective interventions  

• A fair and transparent system for providing information and advice, and 
for resolving concerns and appeals.  
 

The ALN Transformation Lead explained further that the ALN System set out in 

 

Tudalen 5



 

the Act will be fully implemented over a three year period. The implementation 
period is expected to run from September 2020 to August 2023.   
 
It was explained that for the time being, local authorities and all those  
who work with children and young people with SEN, must ensure that  
they continue to comply with duties placed upon them by the Education Act 
1996. They must continue to have regard to the SEN Code of Practice for Wales 
(2002).  
 
The ALN Transformational Lead for Central South reminded Members that in 
order to support the implementation of this new system the Welsh Government 
is providing financial assistance through the ALN Transformational Grant. This is 
the second of the four financial years that the grant will be available. The money 
is delegated via a host authority acting on behalf of the other authorities in the 
region, using the same footprint as the four regional education consortia. The 
grant must be used on a regional strategic basis and consideration should be 
given to regional sustainability beyond the life time of the grant. The conditions 
of the grant spend stipulate that there has to be in place a: 

• Regional implementation plan 
• State of the region summary document, detaining areas to focus on in 

preparing for transition to the new ALN system  
• Multi- agency regional Additional Learning Needs and Educational 

Tribunal (Wales) Act training plan.  
 
 
In respect of the regional plan the Joint Committee was informed of what work 
had been done across the region.  It was explained that between March and July 
2018 extensive analysis was carried out across the region to identify strengths 
and areas for development. Full co-operation was obtained between all five local 
authorities, four further education colleges, two health boards and the Central 
South Consortium. It was further explained that following these activates a 
summary document detailing the state of the region was created as well as a 
consequent regional plan.  
 
Members were informed that the implementation of the new requirements will 
begin in September 2020 and be completed by the end of 2023. It was explained 
that the Regional Plan has eight priorities that region needs to work to:  

1. Creating a multi-agency, multi-disciplinary regional implementation plan 
that underpins the successful transition to the new way of working 

2. Delivering an awareness-raising programme that ensures all 
professionals, parents, carers, children and young people and the third 
sector receive timely information about the reforms and associated 
timescales. 

3. Implement a comprehensive workforce development plan that is 
compliant with ALNET Act and complementary to the wider national 
education reforms. 

4. Develop support and provision for post compulsory-aged learners 
through identifying local and potential regional offers. 

5. Ensure that the new statutory expectations for early years are 
understood and delivered and that appropriate support is provided to 
increase capacity in early years settings.  

6. Improve strategic engagement with health to support the establishment 
of the statutory role of the Designated Educational Clinical Lead Officer 
and develop shared expectations and supportive working practices.  

Tudalen 6



 

7. Review and improve Welsh medium provision and specialist support to 
increase regional capacity.  

8. Support the rights of the child and young person with ALN through the 
development of user-friendly practices that clearly explain processes and 
what support they can expect to receive as well as promoting their rights 
of appeal.  
 
 

 
The Members were informed that a multi-agency, multi –disciplinary steering is 
in the process of being formed. Governance structures are in place as are 
performance management processes to ensure that the project remains on task, 
within the confines of the grant spend recommendations and monitors financial 
accountability.  
 
The ALN Transformational Lead Central South informed Members where as a 
region we want to be and as a region what we need to do next.   
 
Members discussed the need for developing a better interface for Further 
Education (FE) in relation to the amount for money to fund out of county 
placements. It was explained that work is being done to see if there is scope to 
keep young people near home . 
 
In respect of early years, Members discussed the significant implications, as 
there will be a cost implication to consider for the future.  
 
In relation to improving engagement with health Members and Officer discussed 
the role of Designated Educational Clinical Lead Officer, which will be a statutory 
role. It was explained the Clinical Lead Officer would be able to develop a dialog 
between Health and the Local Authority at a strategic level. 
 
A Member questioned the Welsh Medium Provision for ALN pupils. It  
was explained that the provision would be the same as English Medium children.  
Intervention seem to be developed through the English Medium however the 
Welsh Government regulations states the provision is set for both Welsh and 
English ALN provision.  
 
With regards to post 16 education for pupils, Members discussed the challenges 
and the way forward. 
 
After more in depth discussion Members RESOLVED to:  

• Note the contents of the report 
• Receive a progress report at a future meeting.  

 
 

6   URGENT BUSINESS  
 

 

 
 

This meeting closed at 11.50am CLLR S. MERRY 
CHAIR. 

 

Tudalen 7



tudalen wag



Business Plan 2019 - 2020
Empowering schools to improve outcomes for all learners

T
udalen 9

A
gendw

m
 3



Business Plan 2019/20 2

Introduction 3

The Region in Context 4

The Consortium 5

Strategic Priorities of Local Authorities 2019-2020 10

Priorities for the Business Plan 2019-2020                                                                                              11

Measuring Impact 24

Our Approach to Delivery 26

Governance 29

Consortium Funding 2019-2020 30

Appendix A: Local Authority Priorities 2019-2020 34

Appendix B: Education in Wales Outcomes Framework 37

Contents

T
udalen 10



Business Plan 2019/20 3

The Central South Consortium (CSC) business plan has been 
developed using the outcomes of self-evaluation, research findings, 
analysis of outcome data, cross-consortia planning as well as 
identification of school, local authority, regional and national priorities.  
A wide range of stakeholders have contributed and been consulted on 
the development of the plan prior to publication.  These include:

• Headteachers
• Directors of Education (constituent to CSC) and Diocesan  

Directors
• CSC Joint Committee & Advisory Board
• Staff in Central South Consortium
• Delegate Headteacher panel
• Representative Stakeholder Group
• Governor Steering Group
• Co-ordinated Scrutiny Group

 
This business plan has been formally agreed by the Director of 
Education or Chief Education Officer of each Local Authority, the Joint 
Committee and the Lead Chief Executive. 

Introduction

Cllr S Merry
Chair Central South 
Consortium Joint Committee

Ms L Blatchford
Acting Managing Director, 
Central South Consortium

Mrs P Ham
Lead Director on behalf of 
Central South Consortium 
Directors’ Steering Group

Mr C Bradshaw
Lead Chief Executive on 
behalf of Central South 
Consortium Chief Executives

Mr K Law
Chair of the CSC Delegate 
Headteacher Group

T
udalen 11



Business Plan 2019/20 4

The Region in Context 

Many of our communities face significant 
poverty related challenges; others are 
amongst the most prosperous in the country.  

Historically the region has underperformed 
against schools in Wales. Since 2012, 
however, it has seen a steep improvement in 
learner outcomes at every level and in every 
local authority. However, we acknowledge 
there is more to do to secure further 
improvement and to close the attainment gaps 
for more vulnerable groups of young people. 

The success of schools in this region is the 
key to the future economic and social success 
of the country. We want to play a full part 
in realising the vision for Welsh education 
detailed in Education in Wales: Our National 
Mission, delivering an education system that 
is the source of national pride and public 
confidence.

T
udalen 12



Business Plan 2019/20 5

The Consortium 

The Central South Consortium (CSC), established in September 
2012, is a Joint Education Service for five local authorities:

• Bridgend
• Cardiff
• Merthyr Tydfil
• Rhondda Cynon Taf
• Vale of Glamorgan

The Consortium is commissioned by, and acts on behalf of, the 
five local authorities to develop a school improvement service that 
challenges, monitors and supports schools to raise standards for all 
learners in the region.

Progress to date

• There has been year on year improvement in nearly all 
performance indicators of pupil outcomes at all phases, 
creating a significant upward trend. 

• The performance of pupils entitled to free school meals 
improved year on year in most performance indicators up to 
the summer of 2017. The most recent performance shows 
a drop in outcomes in some key areas and the gap also 
remains too large overall. 

• Schools are positive about the opportunities offered to work with 
other schools within their own LAs, within their region and across 
other regions. 

• The development and depth of school-to-school working across 
the region is acknowledged. 

• A measure of consistency of systems and processes for school 
improvement across the region is now evident. 

• Efficiency savings have been delivered.

T
udalen 13



Business Plan 2019/20 6

We still need to...

• Further improve the way in which we demonstrate the 
impact of our work 

• Quality assure provision and ensure that professional 
learning programmes have clear success criteria to 
measure impact   

• Align fully with the national model for professional learning 

• Ensure provision fully meets local, regional and national 
needs 

• Recognise the changing national context and ensure a 
comprehensive programme of professional learning to 
prepare all schools for all aspects of education reform

T
udalen 14



Business Plan 2019/20 7

Education In Wales: A Changing Landscape 

Since the establishment of consortia in 2012, the national 
picture of education in Wales has developed and changed.  
Professor Donaldson published an independent review 
of Curriculum and Assessment Arrangements in Wales in 
February 2015, leading to a commitment to reform and the 
publication of Education in Wales:  Our National Mission.  
Consortia and other partners are increasingly collaborating to 
support this reform journey in addition to the original remit of 
providing a school improvement service to the local authorities 
within the region.

Working with stakeholders from across the region, the vision 
for CSC remains: 

“Empowering schools to improve outcomes for all 
learners.”

The business plan is designed to meet the priorities of schools, 
local authorities and Welsh Government, against a backdrop 
of a new curriculum, new accountability frameworks, new 
approaches to supporting children with Additional Learning 
Needs, the development of schools as learning organisations, 
the introduction of a National Academy for Educational 
Leadership, the launch of a professional learning model, as 
well as changes to the way in which Estyn will inspect schools 
and local authorities.  The delivery strategy within CSC is 
outlined within the Central South Wales Challenge.

T
udalen 15



Business Plan 2019/20 8

Improvement Priorities 2019/20

Following analysis of evidence, requirements within the National 
Mission and consultation with stakeholders including head 
teachers and local authority officers, we have identified six 
improvement priorities. The Consortium remains committed 
to its original mission of providing a school improvement 
service to local authorities.  It is also committed to supporting 
schools to take greater ownership for their own improvement 
through the continued development of a self-improving system.  
The consortium also has a specific role to play in the delivery of 
the national transformation agenda which means many of the 
priorities will be set by Welsh Government

The business plan directly addresses the priorities of the local 
authorities across the region.  Although other priorities may 
be outside the remit of the Central South Consortium, CSC 
will work, wherever possible in partnership to support these 
priority areas. A detailed summary of the specific priorities of the 
local authorities across the region can be found in Appendix A

Crucially, there is an appetite to improve by working together 
as a region.

The business plan cannot be delivered without a productive 
relationship between schools and the five local authorities which 
the CSC serves.  The links and communication fostered with 
other key partners including Welsh Government, other regional 
consortia, Estyn and other stakeholders is also crucial. 

Central South Consortium
Collaborative working with key stakeholders

Supporting the development of shared strategic priorities

T
udalen 16



Business Plan 2019/20 9

Identifying Shared Priorities

Following analysis of headteacher, 
local authority, and Welsh Government 
priorities, common priorities have been 
directly incorporated into the business 
plan and include:

• Improving Learner Outcomes
• Wellbeing and Equity
• Developing Leaders
• Improving teaching and learning
• Preparing the workforce for 

change

Details of the specific priorities for key 
stakeholders are outlined on the following 
page with further detail found within 
individual annexes for each local authority.

T
udalen 17



Business Plan 2019/20 10

Strategic Priorities of Local Authorities 2019/20

Stakeholder Strategic Priorities 2019/20

Local Authorities 
Local Authority Strategic 
Priorities are detailed in  
Appendix A  

Welsh Government 
• Curriculum publication, 

engagement and feedback
• Develop a new way to 

measure, to inform policy, 
learner well-being

• Work with the profession 
to reduce bureaucracy and 
reduce workload

• Continue to raise 
attainment for all, tackling 
link between deprivation 
and attainment

• Continued focus on 
professional learning, 
giving teachers the tools to 
raise standards for all

Education Report Wales 
(January 2019)

T
udalen 18



Business Plan 2019/20 11

Business Plan Priorities 2019/20

The overarching priorities for CSC for 2019/20 were agreed with the 
Joint Committee on the 19th December 2018. 

1.   Develop a high quality education profession 

2.   Develop inspirational leaders to facilitate working 
collaboratively to raise standards 

3.   Develop strong and inclusive schools committed to wellbeing, 
equity and excellence 

4.   Develop robust assessment, evaluation and accountability 
arrangements supporting self-improving systems 

5.   Provide professional learning opportunities to support the 
curriculum for Wales 

6.   Improve the effectiveness and efficiency of Central South 
Consortium

For each of the priorities there is a detailed operational plan that outlines 
how and when the aspects of each priority will be delivered. These 
include key quantitative and qualitative success criteria against which 
progress is measured.

T
udalen 19



Business Plan 2019/20 12

Business Plan Objectives
Objective 1: Develop a high quality education profession

Actions

• Promote and embed the principles of the national approach to 
professional learning within the regional professional learning 
offer to ensure that the curriculum is delivered by a vibrant and 
engaged work force

• Coordinate a regional support programme to convey the national 
mission of schools as learning organisations 

• Increase schools’ understanding of the new Professional 
Standards for teaching and learning to support all practitioners

• Facilitate appropriate learning pathways for all practitioners
• Provide opportunities for practitioners at all levels to become 

engaged with research and learn from excellence at local, 
regional, national and international level

• Support the implementation of national and regional strategies 
in Welsh language, literacy, international languages, numeracy, 
digital skills, science technology engineering and mathematics 
(STEM), foundation phase and post 16

• Explore and develop with existing and new initial teacher 
education (ITE) providers better training and pathways into the 
teaching profession

• Support the preparation for the Additional Learning Needs and 
Education Tribunal (Wales) Act

T
udalen 20



Business Plan 2019/20 13

• Every school in the region is well informed of the national 
transformational reforms 

• Regional professional learning provided on the implementation 
of Schools as Learning Organisations for leaders, teachers and 
teaching assistants

• Training opportunities provided for all schools to adopt the 
Professional Standards for Teaching and Leadership 

• Initial Teacher Education mentors trained and accredited and lead 
partner schools’ quality assured

• Graduate Teaching Programme (GTP) extended for one more 
year, matching the recruitment need of the region

• The Teaching Assistant Learning Pathway (TALP) provides 
professional learning opportunities across the region 

• All newly qualified teachers (NQT) are well informed about 
statutory induction and engaged with high quality professional 
learning programmes

• All NQT’s assigned a trained mentor monitored by external 
verifiers

• Schools engaged in focused professional learning through 
education research with higher education partners and develop 
a research-driven culture, using a growing evidence base to 
improve teaching and leadership

• An increased number of practitioners trained in coaching, 
mentoring and facilitation

• All Initial Teacher Education mentors trained in coaching and 
mentoring techniques and Qualified Teacher Status criteria

• Schools supported to train or place salaried or Part Time student 
teachers 

• CSC challenge model provides the network structures to deliver 
the co-constructed professional learning offer of the region 

• Increase in the number of confident Welsh speaking staff 
supported by a range of blended learning opportunities

• Most schools further develop informal and incidental Welsh 
• A regional ALN provision map in place 

How we will know whether progress has been made? 

T
udalen 21



Business Plan 2019/20 14

Business Plan Objectives
Objective 2: Develop inspirational leaders and to facilitate their working  
collaboratively to raise standards
Actions

• Develop and coordinate a comprehensive leadership pathway 
for the region aligned to the regional/national model and in 
partnership with the National Academy for Educational Leadership 
(NAEL) in Wales 

• Work in partnership with local authorities and higher education 
institutions to deliver the National Professional Qualification for 
Headship

• Provide opportunities for governing bodies to be well informed on 
all aspects of national reform

• Work with other regions to provide high quality coaching and 
mentoring programmes to further develop the skills of school 
leaders and governors.

• Support the leadership and management of change

T
udalen 22



Business Plan 2019/20 15

• More effective use of Professional Learning Pathways identified 
and acknowledged by Education Workforce Council 

• Practitioners fully engaged in cohort 1 of the new/acting and 
experienced headteacher programmes which are endorsed by the 
National Leadership group and Bangor University

• A comprehensive middle leader programme designed and 
available across the region

• A range of development opportunities across the region to provide 
a leadership pathway

• Increase the number of governors trained and their role and 
impact on the leadership of the school monitored

• Support governor training opportunities  
• Governing Body Improvement Group (GIG) in place and evaluated 

by the Research and Evaluation team
• Most Estyn reports across the region identify strong leadership 

including governance

How we will know whether progress has been made? 

T
udalen 23



Business Plan 2019/20 16

Business Plan Objectives
Objective 3: Develop strong and inclusive schools committed to  
excellence, equity and wellbeing
Actions

• Develop a regional Wellbeing and Equity Strategy that supports 
schools to improve provision and progress for all learners 
including those eligible for free school meals and other identified 
vulnerable learners

• Develop and identify within the Wellbeing and Equity Strategy, 
opportunities to strengthen partnerships and collaborative working 
with local authority service areas and wider services that are 
available to support learners emotional and physical wellbeing 

• Collaborate with the regional Additional Learning Needs (ALN) 
transformation lead to ensure that schools, challenge advisers and 
other key officers are well informed and prepared for the Additional 
Learning Needs and Education Tribunal Wales Act   

• Engage with research informed practice to identify strategies in 
closing the gap and support for vulnerable learners

• Facilitate opportunities to share good practice across the region in 
effective strategies to improve and sustain good attendance for all 
learners

• Identify and disseminate good practice to reduce levels of fixed 
term and permanent exclusions

• Implement the national model for the deployment of the Pupil 
Development Grant for Looked After Children

• In collaboration with other regions, implement the national strategy 
for more able and talented learners

• Develop new Relationship and Sexuality Education (RSE) 
curriculum in conjunction with Welsh Government and higher 
education institutes (HEI) and up-skill the workforce to be able to 
lead and deliver new RSE curriculum

T
udalen 24



Business Plan 2019/20 17

• Wellbeing and Equity strategy co-constructed with schools and 
wider partners and used to support all learners, including e FSM 
and vulnerable learners

• ALN regional transformation lead liaises directly with CSC 
ALN link to ensure that there is increased knowledge and 
understanding across the system including the new ALN Act 

• CSC/LA termly review days include specific agenda item about 
progress towards implementing the ALN Act

• A national cohesive strategy for more able and talented (MAT) 
learners is implemented across the region

• An effective national professional learning programme is in place 
and MAT leaders across CSC engage

• Performance and wellbeing measures (including achievement, 
attendance, permanent and fixed term exclusions) improve

• Challenge and strategic advisers engage with schools on their use 
and understanding of the readiness tool for Children Looked After 
and consideration of Adverse Childhood Experiences

• Evidence from Pilot schools on the use of survey data to create 
robust wellbeing strategies that improve achievement, attendance 
and exclusions

• Models to measure wellbeing such as PERMA or SELFIE used in 
all schools 

• RSE action research pilot shared across the system to model 
effective practice

• New RSE curriculum in place and resourced training provides 
support for schools to deliver new RSE curriculum

How we will know whether progress has been made? 

T
udalen 25



Business Plan 2019/20 18

Business Plan Objectives
Objective 4: Develop robust assessment, evaluation and accountability  
arrangements supporting a self-improving system

Actions

• Continue to implement and embed the regional intervention 
strategy for schools in need 

• Establish a regional forum to review the way in which the range of 
information on schools is collated and disseminated

• Developing a robust process for Challenge Advisors (CAs) 
and Strategic Advisors (SAs) to ensure that all evaluations and 
judgements on performance at school level are accurate and in 
particular the performance of all vulnerable groups of learners 

• Ensure all CAs and SAs are up-skilled and have up-to-date 
knowledge and experience of the national self-evaluation 
framework 

• Facilitate appropriate professional learning opportunities for 
schools to include target setting procedures, development of 
pupil progress data, current and proposed assessment and 
accountability arrangements in line with new Welsh Government 
(WG) guidelines

• CAs will ensure school development plans, supported by robust 
self-evaluation, will reflect local authority (LA) priorities. The 
progress against these priorities will be monitored and followed 
up, according to regional expectation

• Ensure LA and Diocesan Directors are informed and advised on a 
regular basis

• Continue to review, improve and fund school- to- school models 
including Hubs, clusters, School Improvement Groups (SIGs), 
evaluation and research board, pioneer schools and pilot peer 
enquiry models to build capacity for professional learning and 
accountability.

T
udalen 26



Business Plan 2019/20 19

• All CAs and SAs accurately identify schools in need and 
implement appropriate strategies 

• Appropriate collection and timely dissemination of data
• Produce high quality guidance material and support programmes 

so that schools, CAs, SAs, LA officers, governors and all relevant 
stakeholders have a sound understanding of how to use data, 
relating to new assessment arrangements and qualifications

• Fewer schools need the highest level of support
• LAs trigger statutory powers on receipt of timely information, as 

well as meet statutory expectation and evidence improvements 
made against their improvement priorities

• Schools set aspirational pupil targets, accurately track and secure 
progress of individual learners

• The professional learning offer provides appropriate provision 
and support for schools in relation to regional need, leading to a 
positive impact on outcomes for all learners

• Appropriate guidance available to support regional need
• Quality assurance procedures, through the regional governance 

structure, show positive impact from the range of services the 
consortia provide

• Regional plan considers all priorities from the individual region’s 
business plans in order to contribute to the development of 
national guidance

• Bespoke support plans impact on school improvement 

How we will know whether progress has been made? 

T
udalen 27



Business Plan 2019/20 20

Business Plan Objectives
Objective 5: Provide professional learning opportunities to support the  
curriculum for Wales

Actions

• Co-construct professional learning opportunities to support 
curriculum design activities in schools

• Establish networks that focus on the Areas of Learning and 
Experience to support the development of the curriculum for 
Wales 

• Provide Lead Creative School cross-curricular training to all 
school improvement groups in order to build capacity in relation 
to innovation in designing curriculum experiences in line with the 
national vision

• Ensure the professional learning offer incorporates the national 
priorities and is communicated to all schools and governing bodies 
across the region

• Continue to promote and work within the Central South Wales 
Challenge model in order to disseminate the national agenda

• Challenge Advisers support school leaders with securing 
understanding within their setting on the areas within the schools 
as learning organisations change management model

• Engage with other regional consortia to ensure a consistent 
approach in disseminating key information to reflect national 
priorities across the Central South Consortium region

T
udalen 28



Business Plan 2019/20 21

• Regional professional learning provided to all schools on the 
implementation of the Curriculum for Wales and wider reforms

• Through self-evaluation most schools demonstrate increased 
preparedness for the curriculum for Wales

• All schools identify a member of staff to lead the curriculum for 
Wales activities to provide professional development opportunities 
and disseminates information to school staff in order to ensure all 
colleagues are aware of curriculum updates

• All school improvement groups engage with enquiry-led 
approaches 

• All schools engage with the range of cluster events available and 
improvement in core knowledge is reflected in individual school’s 
evaluation of the readiness tool

• Challenge Advisers report improved understanding of curriculum 
for Wales activities in all settings

How we will know whether progress has been made? 

T
udalen 29



Business Plan 2019/20 22

Business Plan Objectives
Objective 6: Improve the effectiveness and efficiency of  
Central South Consortium

Actions

• Utilise the recent ISOS findings and continue to support and 
progress the Central South Wales Challenge (CSWC) to support 
schools in developing a self-improving system

• Improve engagement, ownership and understanding of research 
and enquiry and its importance in the development of CSC

• Use outcomes of research and evaluation to underpin CSC self-
evaluation 

• Use the annual school survey publication to inform how CSC 
improves its work with schools and to evidence value for money 

• Increase involvement of CSC staff and research academics in 
cross-regional research with the other three consortia 

• Ensure human resources policies are current and reflect the 
needs of the organisation

• Professional learning is appropriate and develops CSC staff’s 
knowledge and expertise

• Ensure the governance structure supports CSC effectively in 
making the right decisions 

• Ensure CSC staff prioritise governance meetings and enable 
appropriate people to attend and disseminate information 
effectively

• Reinforce regional working and enable all staff to work across the 
5 LAs and across consortia

• Align the business planning process with the self-evaluation 
approach to simplify reporting on progress and impact 

• Refine business and system processes to ensure efficiency, 
effectiveness and value for money within CSC activities

T
udalen 30



Business Plan 2019/20 23

• Analysis of the findings from the tier 2 OECD survey will identify 
strengths and weaknesses and opportunities for development of 
CSC as a learning organisation 

• Central South Consortium continues to have a strong visibility and 
makes valuable contribution at all national and regional meetings

• Case studies that evidence effective practice 
• Evidence that CAs take findings from survey outcomes to schools 

as an improvement tool
• Staff development days used to digest findings and inform work 

strands going forward
• Performance management targets reflect the priorities of the 

organisation 
• Roles, responsibilities and accountability structures clear to all 

staff in the organisation 
• Proactive can-do attitude from a workforce that actively takes the 

initiative
• The impact of professional development evidenced in the 

performance management process with a feedback aspect 
included and reported

• A consistent approach evident across all LAs in the region 
• Governance structures and communication strategy refined based 

on ISOS review findings 
• An agile and fully informed staff base underpinned by clear 

succession planning

How we will know whether progress has been made? 

T
udalen 31



Business Plan 2019/20 24

Measuring Impact 

This business plan is underpinned by more detailed operational plans 
for each improvement priority. These include measurable outcomes and 
milestones. Progress will be monitored half termly in Senior Leadership 
Team (SLT) meetings and reported to Joint Committee meetings. These 
provide termly monitoring and challenge against the agreed targets and 
milestones and value for money measures, any risks identified will be 
included on the risk register.

Progress against the regional priorities as well as the priorities agreed 
for individual local authorities will be reviewed on a termly basis through 
progress review meetings between the Managing Director and each 
Local Authority. 

Progress against the priorities and development of the school-led system 
will be reviewed regularly with representative head teachers.

An outcomes framework, which has been discussed and agreed with 
senior civil servants in Welsh Government, is attached at Appendix B.  
The outcomes framework is based upon the agreed 2019/20 business 
plan. Welsh Government officials will meet with the Managing Director, 
Lead Director and Lead Chief Executive three times a year to review 
progress.

Progress against our priorities will also be regularly reviewed through our 
Governance structures.

T
udalen 32



Business Plan 2019/20 25

Evaluating the Impact of What We Do

We recognise how important it is that we evaluate the impact our own 
work - to ensure that we remain reflective and responsive, and able to 
adjust practice to need.  We do this using a variety of models.

Research & Evaluation Board 

Board membership includes senior consortium officers and seconded 
teacher researchers who work with Cardiff University to develop internal 
research and evaluation capacity to:

• Design and implement the overall plan for evaluation and research
• Hold responsibility for reporting on progress and impact of 

consortium initiatives, as part of self-evaluation, to both internal 
and external audiences

• Provide advice and support on evaluation and inquiry to 
leadership at all levels within the consortium

• Undertake a monitoring and coordination role for all externally 
commissioned research

Commissioned Research

We commission external research into the impact of our school-led 
model to evaluate its maturity and practitioners’ confidence in it. Our 
NFER report in 2017 notes:

“Taken together, activities have increased school leaders’ 
confidence to lead in developing systemic school improvement.  
They have developed capacity for mutual challenge and 
support. They have also nurtured analytical skills, e.g. in 
understanding the developmental needs of individual schools 
and groups of schools.  The consortium has developed its 
quality assurance work, e.g. by ensuring that schools provide 
appropriate challenge and support to each other. This reflected 
the need for school-led approaches to be underpinned by 
robust quality assurance. At the same time the system-wide 
intelligence held by the consortium is being used to identify 
beneficial collaborations and broker appropriate school-led 
partnerships.”

Central South Wales Challenge: What does a self-improving school system look like?
National Foundation for Educational Research (NFER) October 2017, Report No: 2

T
udalen 33



Business Plan 2019/20 26

Our Approach to Delivery:  
Continuing to Develop a  
School-led System through the 
Central South Wales Challenge 

The Central South Wales Challenge was launched in January 2014 
to drive school improvement across the region.  This strategy, led by 
headteachers, included schools across the region and drew on the 
expertise of universities and external experts in school-improvement 
and published international research.  The strategy was based upon six 
underlying principles commonly found in successful school systems:

• Schools are communities where collaborative enquiry is used to 
foster improvements in practice

• Groupings of schools engage in joint practice development
• Where necessary, more intensive partnerships are organised to 

provide support for schools facing difficulties
• Families and community organisations support the work of schools
• Coordination of the system is provided by school leaders and
• Local authorities work together as the conscience of the system

School leaders across the region have been actively engaged in the 
approach taken by the consortium over the past few years, and they 
have become more accountable for the performance of their school, 
schools in their cluster and in supporting other schools across the region.  
The focus over the past few years has been to embed the following key 
approaches to the school led improvement model:

• School Improvement Groups with all schools actively 
encouraged to participate and focus on shared priorities

• Pathfinders where high performing schools are partnered 
with schools requiring improvement to support and accelerate 
improvements in these schools

• School Hubs where teacher training and development 
programmes are offered by Hub schools that are aligned to the 
analysis of regional and national need and follow an enquiry led 
approach  

• Leadership Programmes developing existing and future leaders 
in our schools

• Peer Enquiry has sought to build greater trust across the schools 
in the system, building social capital to support the development 
of the school-led system and the vision to develop trust, openness 
and honesty between peers 

• Challenge Advisers - recruiting and retaining high quality school 
improvement professionals, improving the standard of their work 
and reducing the administrative burden to maximise their time 
in classrooms, improving the quality of leadership and teaching 
and evidence from external evaluations shows that schools are 
positive about the opportunity to work with other schools across 
the region and have deepened their collaborative working over 
the last year. We are working closely with a group of Delegate 
Headteachers to further refine and develop the Central South 
Wales Challenge approach over the coming year. 

T
udalen 34



Business Plan 2019/20 27

Regional Delivery Models: 
High Quality School-led Professional Learning

At the same time as the development of the Central 
South Wales Challenge (CSWC) Welsh Government 
(WG) have been developing their approach to 
professional learning. The national approach to 
professional learning was launched in the Central South 
region by WG on the 13th December 2018.

• The national approach recognises that 
professional networks are the most effective 
means for sharing learning and therefore align with 
the strategies embedded within the CSWC. 

• Professional learning provided through the CSWC 
will build capacity so that the entire workforce can 
benefit from career-long development based on 
research and effective collaboration.

We now need to develop our approach to delivery to 
ensure the continued development of the self-improving 
system whilst also meeting the challenges of preparing 
the workforce for the new curriculum and other national 
changes. 

T
udalen 35



Business Plan 2019/20 28

Taking the Central South Wales Challenge  
Strategy Forward

Since the CSWC was established, the professional, political and 
financial climate of education in Wales has altered but the core vision 
of recognising the value of a school-led improvement system remains 
a constant. Work is ongoing to further develop the model, driven by a 
group of Delegate Headteachers.  The model continues to be refined 
following consideration of evaluation of impact and value for money, but 
continues to have the following key principles:

• Effective practice is shared so that schools learn from each other
• Use our knowledge of schools and research to facilitate and 

support the sharing of best practice and collaboration to improve 
learners’ outcomes within a self-improving system

• The most appropriate source of support for schools is sourced by 
the schools themselves or is signposted/brokered by Challenge 
Advisers

• Improved teaching and leadership can only be sustained by a 
move away from a school improvement model dependent on 
central support

• Resources are focused on opportunities for teachers and leaders 
to learn from each other, to try out new approaches or lead 
research projects which will improve their teaching and that of 
others 

• Leadership skills grown through planned succession leads to 
improvement across the system

• Accountability is clear at all levels and used effectively to drive 
improvement

A shared priority of all stakeholders is the implementation of the new 
curriculum.  Ensuring schools, school leaders, governors, teachers and 
support staff are well prepared for the changes.  In order to be able to 
support the development of the new curriculum, a change to the model is 
required. 

Although the principles remain the same, the strategy now encompasses 
clusters of schools at the heart of the model to facilitate a curriculum 
which removes phases of education.

There will be further work to do during 2018-19 to develop and 
refine this delivery model further and we will be working closely 
with all partners to do this.

T
udalen 36



Business Plan 2019/20 29

Governance

The governance model at CSC is underpinned by a legal 
agreement between the five local authorities and includes 
aspects of the following:

• The Joint Committee agrees the strategy, business 
plan and risk register and monitors budget and 
performance

• Directors of Education meet monthly and have a 
strategic decision making role. This Board includes 
representation from Welsh Local Government 
Association (WLGA) and Welsh Government.

• The Regional Stakeholder Group (RSG) and 
Governor Steering Group meet half termly to review 
progress, provide advice and consult on any areas of 
development and share opportunities and barriers to 
progress

• The Advisory Board reviews progress and challenges 
the consortium once a term

• Education Scrutiny Committees collaborate across 
the region 

• Senior Leadership Team at CSC meet weekly to 
debate operational effectiveness, performance and 
strategy

T
udalen 37



Business Plan 2019/20 30

Consortium Funding 2019/2020 

CSC uses all available funding to support the priorities identified by 
schools, local authorities, regions and Welsh Government within the 
business plan.  The underlying principle is that delegation to schools 
should be as high as possible.

Local Authority funding for Consortium working is underpinned by 
the National Model for Regional Working, published by the Welsh 
Government in 2014. The model recommended a core funding allocation 
of £5.4m for the Consortium. 

In recognition of funding constraints in the public sector, the agreed core 
funding allocation for the consortium in 2015/16 was in fact 19% lower 
than the recommended level. In 2016/17 and 2017/18 a further 5% 
reduction was agreed for each year and a 2% reduction in 2018/19. At 
the Joint Committee meeting on the 8 November 2018 it was agreed that 
the core funding to the Consortium would be reduced by a further 5% for 
2019/20.

Given the lower funding level and continued year on year reduction, 
approximately £510k efficiency savings have already been achieved 
between 2016 and 2019 with a further £160k to be achieved from the 
core budget in 2019/20.

Financial Overview 

*includes match funding

CSC is funded on an annual basis from the constituent local authorities 
to fulfill the requirement of the National Model for Regional Working as 
well as directly from Welsh Government to further support and develop 
both regional and national priorities.

Local authority contributions are calculated using the IBA (Indicator 
Based Assessment) published annually on the Stats Wales website.  The 
percentage is then agreed by local authority directors in conjunction with 
the Joint Committee. 

Local Authority 
Contributions

Grant Funding 
for National 

Priorities

Total Funding 
Available

£ 3.7m £ 74.5m* £78.2m

T
udalen 38



Business Plan 2019/20 31

Funding Provided by Welsh Government 

Historically there were two main grants received by CSC from Welsh 
Government.  Pupil Development Grant (PDG) and the Education 
Improvement Grant (EIG).  In addition, consortia used to receive 
additional grants for specific purposes proposed by Welsh Government, 
usually through the Regional School Support Grant (RSSG).
With the launch of the national strategy ‘Education in Wales:  Our 
National Mission’, there has been a streamlining of the grant funding 
process.

From 2018/19, only two grants will be received by consortia:

*includes LA match funding

Regional Consortia School Improvement Grant 

The main grant received by regional consortia to support national school 
improvement priorities is the Regional Consortia School Improvement 
Grant (RCSIG).  This grant now incorporates the former Education 
Improvement Grant (EIG) and Raising School Standards Grant. 

There is an expectation that the EIG element of the grant is match 
funded by local authorities and is predominantly delegated to schools in 
line with grant terms and conditions.  In 2019/20 95% of the EIG element 
of the grant will be delegated to schools. 

Regional Consortia School 
Improvement Grant

Pupil Development Grant

£42.9m* £31.6m*

The outline funding envelope from Welsh Government was received in 
early March 2019 and provides indicative allocations for the financial 
year 2019-20.  Activity within the 2019/20 business plan is predominantly 
funded from this grant.

Objective £m

Curriculum and Assessment  0.718

Developing a High Quality Education profession 41.493

Inspirational Leaders working collaboratively to raise standards 0.332

Strong and Inclusive Schools committed to excellence, equity and well-
being

31.601

Robust assessment, evaluation and accountability arrangements 
supporting a self improving system

0.419

Total Funding £74.563

T
udalen 39



Business Plan 2019/20 32

Pupil Development Grant 
The Pupil Development Grant was launched in 2012 and provides 
additional funding to schools based upon the number of pupils on their 
roll eligible for Free School Meals or who are Children Looked After.

The majority of the grant (95%) is delegated to schools, however 5% of 
the Children Looked After element is retained to provide professional 
learning opportunities across the region to support previously looked 
after adopted children.T

udalen 40



Business Plan 2019/20 33

Additional Supporting Documents 

• Local Authority Strategic Plans
• Regional Professional Learning Offer
• Detailed Operational Plans
• Regional Self-Evaluation Report
• Education report Wales (January 2019)

T
udalen 41



Business Plan 2019/20 34

Appendix A: Local Authority Priorities 2019/20

Local Authority Strategic Priorities 2019/20
• To continue to provide the best possible outcomes for all children and young people in 

Bridgend
• To improve pupil attainment and attendance across all phases/stages and in all settings; 

especially at key stage 2
• To ensure appropriate resources are identified and deployed in a timely manner to meet 

the needs of children and young people (especially the most in need)
• To continue to work with schools to support the wellbeing of school-based staff and 

learners 

• Improve educational outcomes for children and young people by continuing to raise 
standards, improve school leadership, high quality and learning and curriculum 
development.

• Work together with schools and partners to enhance the wellbeing of children and young 
people in Cardiff.

• Close the attainment gap for pupils from low-income families, children who are looked 
after, pupils educated other than at school, and pupils entering Cardiff with English as an 
additional language.

• Improve support and services for children and young people with additional learning 
needs to ensure every learner fulfils their potential.

• Ensure there are sufficient and high quality school places to meet the population growth 
in the city, through planned expansion and the upgrade of the existing school estate via 
the School Organisation Programme.

• Support young people into Education, Employment or Training by delivering the Cardiff 
Commitment.

• Improve the range and quality of services provided to schools by the Education 
Directorate

T
udalen 42



Business Plan 2019/20 35

• To raising outcomes for all learners at all levels through a continued focus on improving 
teaching.

• To further develop the local authority’s commitment to PBS across schools and early 
years’ settings

• To further development the use of the Capita One System to support targeted 
identification of vulnerable children and young people across sectors. 

• To further develop robust transition processes from early years to primary, from primary 
to secondary and from secondary to further education. 

• To work with schools and other agencies to support the wellbeing of pupils and school 
staff across the authority 

• To work with The College, schools and regeneration department to develop clear 
learning, skills and employment pathways for young people 

• To develop inspirational leaders working collaboratively to improve outcomes and reduce 
the attainment gap.

• To develop strong inclusive schools committed to excellence, equity and wellbeing.
• To develop 21st Century Learning Organisations
• To review and further improve our services to ensure that they are future proof and 

accessible 
 
 
 
 
 
 

T
udalen 43



Business Plan 2019/20 36

• Work with partners to develop sustainable support services to improve outcomes for 
vulnerable learners

• Improve the performance of pupils eligible for free school meals above expected levels
• Reducing NEETs levels remains a priority for the Council with a specific focus on year 

13 NEETs and gaining accurate destinations data for Year 13 leavers
• Ensure that children and young people’s attendance rates, particularly in primary 

schools are improved
• Work with schools to reduce exclusions and ensure that provision is available to meet 

the needs of children and young people with social, emotional and mental health 
difficulties

• Develop a wellbeing strategy to address the needs of a growing group of complex 
young people who have had adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and require support 
through targeted provision to help them to achieve their full potential

• Support schools with the introduction and changes to performance measures, both at 
key stages 4 and post 16

• Deliver the School Reorganisation and Investment Programme to ensure sufficiency of 
school places and efficient, modern learning environments

T
udalen 44



T
udalen 45



tudalen w
ag



1

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM

REPORT FOR JOINT COMMITTEE 

28TH MARCH 2019

JOINT EDUCATION SERVICE

REPORT OF THE TREASURER – 2018/19 BUDGET MONITORING UP DATE 

Author: Paul Griffiths, Service Director - Finance and Improvement
Tel. No. 01443 680609 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To provide Members with an update of the projected revenue outturn 
position for 2018/19.

1.2 To provide Members with a summary of 2018/19 grant funding. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Members: 

2.1 Note the projected revenue outturn position for 2018/19.

2.2 Note the current grant position for 2018/19.

Tudalen 47

Agendwm 4



2

3. BUDGET MONITORING 2018/19

3.1 A summary of the 2018/19 projected outturn position is set out in Table 1 
below. 

Table 1 – Projected Outturn Position 2018/19

Category Revised 
Budget 
2018/19

£

Projected 
Out-turn
2018/19

£

Variance
(Under)/

Over
£

Expenditure
Employees 3,232,073 3,217,424 (14,649)

Premises
Rent 180,833 180,633 (200)
Utilities 20,371 6,932 (13,439)
Non-Domestic Rates 27,596 22,534 (5,062)
Maintenance 4,691 49,436 44,745
Other 27,270 7,165 (20,105)
Total Premises Cost 260,761 266,700 5,939

Transport 34,333 26,287 (8,046)

Supplies & Services
Continuing Professional 
Development / Staff Adverts

32,600 30,212 (2,388)

Licences / Mobile & Telephone 
Charges/ Computer Costs – 
Hardware / Software

72,853 66,357 (6,496)

Photocopying  / Postage / 
Advertising / Stationery / General 
Office Expenses

63,420 63,216 (204)

External Audit & Actuary Fee, 
Employer’s Liability & Public Liability 
Insurance

56,220 56,220 0

Managed Program Support Costs 1,000 0 (1,000)
Restaurant Provisions 2,917 1,519 (1,398)
Governor Training 3,000 0 (3,000)
Communication Strategy 5,000 0 (5,000)
Total Supplies & Services 237,010 217,524 (19,486)

Repayment of Redundancy Costs
Total In-Year Redundancy Costs 0 306,661 306,661
Local Authority Contribution Made 
Towards 2018/2019 Redundancy 
Costs

0 (170,963) (170,963)

Net In-Year Redundancy Costs To 100,000 135,698 35,698

Tudalen 48



3

Category Revised 
Budget 
2018/19

£

Projected 
Out-turn
2018/19

£

Variance
(Under)/

Over
£

Be Met By The Consortium 

Support Services 120,230 116,264 (3,966)

Gross Expenditure 3,984,407 3,979,897 (4,510)

Income
Local Authority Contributions 3,906,161 3,906,161 0
Ty Dysgu Income 19,306 19,484 (178)
Grants & Other Income 58,940 57,562 1,378
Total Income 3,984,407 3,983,207 1,200

Net Expenditure 0 (3,310) (3,310)

3.2 The projected outturn position (as at February 2019) is a £3.3k 
underspend (a projected outturn position of £2.2k underspend was 
forecast as at November 2018 and reported to the December 2018 Joint 
Committee meeting). Key variances within the projected outturn position 
(Table 1) include:

 Employees – (£15k projected underspend) – primarily due to vacancy 
savings within the Business Support Team and charging eligible staff 
costs to external grant funding. 

 Premises (£6k projected overspend) – the position includes one-off 
costs associated with the reconfiguration / refurbishment works at the 
Valleys Information Centre and have been partly off-set by lower costs 
incurred during the occupation of Ty Dysgu in the first half of the 
financial year.

 Transport (£8k projected underspend) – the projected underspend is 
primarily due to lower than anticipated relocation costs to that 
budgeted following the relocation from Ty Dysgu to the Valleys 
Innovation centre. 

 Supplies and Services (£20k projected underspend) – forecasted 
underspends across a number of supplies and services budget areas, 
for example, licences, governor training and communication strategy. 
This has been partly off-set by the one-off costs associated with the 
ISOS review1.

1 ISOS Review – the agreement to proceed with the review was endorsed at the 8th November 2018 Joint Committee meeting.

Tudalen 49



4

 Repayment of Redundancy costs (£36k projected overspend) - the 
projected overspend relates to approved costs incurred in 2018/19 to 
support the on-going programme of restructuring within the Service. 

 Income – projected to be £1k lower than budgeted in line with current 
levels of ‘Grant and Other Income’ forecasted to be received during 
the year.

3.3 With regard to the £130k earmark reserve approved by Joint Committee to 
support the remodelling of the service, £65k has been spent to date and 
has been incorporated into the position set out in Table 1.  The balance of 
£65k has been committed for future service remodelling and in line with 
accounting rules, if the costs are not incurred by 31st March 2019, the Joint 
Committee will be requested to consider the carry forward of this funding 
into 2019/20.

4.    GRANT FUNDED SERVICE 2018/19

4.1 The Consortium has received the following grant allocations for 2018/19 
from Welsh Government, as set out in Table 2: 

Table 2 – 2018/19 grant allocations and projected outturns

Grant Grant 
Award 

2018/19
£

Projected 
Out-turn
2018/19

£

Variance
(Under)/

Over
£

Comment

Regional Consortia School 
Improvement Grant 
(RCSIG)

Centrally retained to fund 
National Priorities

Delegated:
Local Authority/
Delegated Schools

TOTAL RCSIG
(including match funding of 
£2.989M)

10,257,595

39,012,182

49,269,777

10,257,595

39,012,182

49,269,777

0

0

0

Includes additional 
funding allocated to 
schools to create 
the climate for 
change 

Pupil Development Grant 
(PDG)

Centrally retained to fund 
National Priorities

Delegated:

326,070 296,570 (29,500)

Tudalen 50



5

Grant Grant 
Award 

2018/19
£

Projected 
Out-turn
2018/19

£

Variance
(Under)/

Over
£

Comment

Local Authority/
Delegated Schools

TOTAL RCSIG
31,275,251

31,601,321

31,304,751

31,601,321

29,500

0

Includes funding 
allocated to 
Children Looked 
After (CLA) that are 
residing outside of 
the principality

Total 80,871,098 80,871,098 0

4.2 The Central South Consortium has received additional grant funding in 
year for specific initiatives and has continued to effectively manage this 
resource, alongside the core budget, to support  its strategic priorities. 

4.3 The Consortium will continue to carefully monitor expenditure through to 
year-end to ensure the use and effectiveness of grants is maximised 
across the region.

5. CONCLUSIONS

5.1 The Central South Consortium is projecting to deliver a balanced revenue 
budget for the 2018/19 financial year. The position will continue to be 
closely monitored through to year-end to ensure the Consortium continues 
to make the best use of resources. 

5.2 The 2018/19 Grants Register has been updated and is being regularly 
reviewed to ensure that the use of external funding is maximised for the 
benefit of the schools and local authorities within the Central South 
Consortium area.

Tudalen 51



6

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

AS AMENDED BY

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

28th MARCH 2019

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM JOINT COMMITTEE

List of background papers

Freestanding matter

Officer to Contact:

Mr Paul Griffiths 
Tel no. 01443 680609 

Tudalen 52



1

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM

JOINT COMMITTEE REPORT

28TH MARCH 2019

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM GRANTS

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS OF EDUCATION 

Author: Louise Blatchford, Acting Managing Director

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To provide Members with an update on the grants to be received by the 
Consortium in 2018/19, for which notifications have been received, and 
the methods of allocation of each.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

Directors recommend the following to the Joint Committee:

2.1 Approve the distribution of grants as detailed in section 4 of this report 
(and Annex A).

3.0 BACKGROUND

3.1 As host authority Rhondda Cynon Taf will act as ‘banker authority’ and 
under the terms of the grant agreements will be responsible for accepting 
the terms and conditions of grant and putting in place arrangements to 
distribute the funding, as determined by the Joint Committee, within the 
Consortium. 

3.2 Members will recall that the revised award of funding dated 22nd 
November 2018 was approved by Joint Committee on the 19th December 
2018 for the Regional Consortia School Improvement Grant (RCSIG). 

Tudalen 53

Agendwm 5



2

Since this time, the RCSIG award of funding was withdrawn by Welsh 
Government and replaced by a revised award of funding dated 19th 
February 2019.

4.0 METHOD OF APPORTIONMENT

4.1 The method of apportionment of each grant will vary depending on its 
nature, its intended recipients, its purposes and the associated terms and 
conditions.

4.2 For each grant the following process shall be adopted:

 The Consortium shall prepare a proposed method of distribution 
taking into account all relevant criteria.

 The Director of Education (or equivalent) of each authority shall 
approve the basis of apportionment at the Executive Board of the 
Central South Consortium Joint Education Service. This will ensure 
appropriate and effective use of grant funding to target school 
improvement equitably across each of the five local authority areas.

 A report detailing the basis and reasons for the method adopted shall 
be presented to the Joint Committee for approval.

4.3 This report presents details of 2018/19 grants to the Joint Committee. 

5.0 2018/19 GRANTS

5.1 Grant approval letters have been received detailing grant levels for the 
Central South Consortium. The Directors have agreed to maintain the 
local authority dis-aggregation of the funding and to apply a common 
formula for the delegation of the local authority funding to schools.

5.2 Regional Consortia School Improvement Grant – Revised Award of Grant 
Funding 

5.2.1 The revised award of funding is £4,087,477 (see Annex A), taking the 
total award of grant funding for the financial year 2018/19 to 
£46,280,755.

5.2.2 The aim of the additional funding is to further support the following:

(i) School Improvement; 
(ii) Professional Teaching Awards Cymru (PTAC);
(iii) National Professional Qualification for Headship (NPQH);
(iv) Digital Competence Framework (DCF);
(v) Modern Foreign Languages – building capacity in the primary sector;
(vi) Curriculum Pioneer Partnership Schools and Additional Capacity for 

Areas of Learning Experiences (AoLE) Groups;
(vii) Support for AoLE;

Tudalen 54



3

(viii) Part time and Work Based Initial Teacher Education (ITE);
(ix) More Able and Talented (MAT);
(x) Professional learning to support and raise the quality of our teachers;
(xi) Schools as Learning Organisations (SLOs) and Professional Teaching 

Leadership standards (PTLS);
(xii) National Academy for Educational Leadership - Associates Programme; 
(xiii) Cluster Schools (Professional Learning Pioneers);
(xiv) Cluster Funding (non-pioneer schools);
(xv) Digital resources to support the common Professional Learning 

programme for curriculum reform; and
(xvi) Development funding for further National Networks of Excellence.

5.2.3 Members will note that of the revised award of funding (£4,087,477), 
£3,052,753 is recommended to be delegated to schools, £573,424 
retained initially for future delegation to schools / business plan priorities 
and £461,300 retained to manage the programme on behalf of the five 
local authorities. 

Tudalen 55



4

Annex A
Delegated 
to schools

Retained 
initially for 

future 
delegation to 

schools / 
business plan 

priorities

Retained by 
CSC for 
Specific 

Circumstances

Central 
Salaries

Total 

£ £ £ £ £

Areas to include Apportionment

School Improvement 35,300 35,300 Strategic leaders who will work 
with and on behalf of the regional 
consortia to support and challenge 
schools against criteria agreed with 
Welsh Government officials.

Funding profiled against Welsh 
Government approved activities (April 
and November 2018).

Professional Teaching 
Awards Cymru (PTAC)

5,000 5,000 Development of the awards and 
specialist advice in relation to the 
nominations.

Funding profiled to release CSC staff to 
support/facilitate the PTAC.

National Professional 
Qualification for 
Headship (NPQH)

276,000 276,000 Deliver a revised NPQH to support 
the new Professional Standards for 
Teaching and Leadership and “Our 
national mission”. 

Commitments for the delivery of the 
2018/19 NPQH programme.

Funding per annum comprises of £4.5k 
per candidate plus an additional £60k to 
revise the current NPQH programme.

Digital Competence 
Framework

29,289 29,289 Provide digital support based on 
regional needs.

Funding profiled to develop and deliver 
a CSC Digital Leaders cluster training 
model.  
 6 clusters/39 schools identified - £600 

per school.
 £5k for training/digital resources. 

 Delegated 
to schools

Retained 
initially for 

Retained by 
CSC for 

Central 
Salaries

Total Areas to include Apportionment

T
udalen 56



5

future 
delegation to 

schools / 
business plan 

priorities

Specific 
Circumstances

£ £ £ £ £

Modern Foreign 
Languages (MFL) – 
building capacity for 
MFL in the primary 
sector

54,034 54,034 Capacity building for MFL in the 
Primary sector.

Funding profiled to support:-
 Primary practitioner professional 

learning through an Open University 
(OU) languages programme.  11 
primary teachers have been funded 
to attend the OU programmes;

 Extension of the MFL lead practitioner 
network to include 2 primary schools 
to develop networks of practice and 
primary MFL resources;

 A primary languages event planned 
for February 2019 at Cardiff City 
Stadium in which pupils will be able to 
take part in workshops in Spanish, 
French, Italian, German and 
Mandarin.

Curriculum Pioneer 
Partnership Schools 
and Additional 
Capacity for Areas of 
Learning Experience 
(AoLE) Groups

140,000 140,000 Additional funding for the 
curriculum and/or digital pioneer 
partnerships (summer/autumn 
2018) and to increase capacity of 
AoLE groups.

 Funding profiled in partnership 
between Regional Consortia 
Successful Futures leads and WG.

 £5k allocation per term to 
curriculum / digital partnerships and 
schools supporting AoLE groups.

 Delegated 
to schools

Retained 
initially for 

future 
delegation to 

Retained by 
CSC for 
Specific 

Circumstances

Central 
Salaries

Total Areas to include Apportionment

T
udalen 57



6

schools / 
business plan 

priorities
£ £ £ £ £

Support for AoLE 60,000 60,000 Support the role of Science & 
Technology AoLE group.

Funding of 2018/19 salary 
commitments required to support AoLE 
groups. 

Part time and Work 
Based ITE

50,000 50,000 Procurement and appointment of 
the supplier to deliver the 
developments in regard of part 
time and work based routes to 
initial teacher education.

Funding allocated to release CSC lead to 
work with and support Welsh 
Government through procurement, 
launch and implementation of the 
programme.

More Able and 
Talented (MAT)

147,334 147,334 Support the development of a new 
national approach to identifying 
and supporting our more able and 
talented learners in Wales.  

Expenditure subject to Welsh 
Government approval of the detailed 
proposals developed by cross-regional 
MAT group.

National Academy for 
Educational 
Leadership – 
Associates 
programme

10,000 10,000 Support delivery of the Academy’s 
Associates programme (AAP) under 
Welsh Government‘s priorities for 
leadership; supporting inspirational 
leaders working collaboratively to 
raise standards.

Funding allocated to release CSC lead 
(up to 28 days) in order to support 
delivery of the AAP programme.

 Delegated 
to schools

Retained 
initially for 

future 
delegation to 

schools / 
business plan 

priorities

Retained by 
CSC for 
Specific 

Circumstances

Central 
Salaries

Total Areas to include Apportionment

T
udalen 58



7

Professional Learning 
to support and raise 
the quality of our 
teachers

2,841,153 2,841,153 Support schools meet the demands 
of the new National Approach to 
Professional Learning (NAPL) and 
enable investment in the elements 
of the model. 

Funding allocation to be fully delegated 
to schools, in line with the terms and 
conditions of grant award, based on FTE 
teacher numbers using the latest 
verified census point.

Based on January 2018 PLASC data 
c£377 per FTE teacher will be delegated 
to schools.

Schools as Learning 
Organisations (SLOs) 
and Professional 
Teaching Leadership 
standards (PTLS)

118,251 118,251 Support the establishment of a 
network of schools to support the 
wider implementation of the SLO 
approach and the new professional 
standards.

Funding allocation used to build on the 
regional pilot model to establish a SLO 
advisory group of schools to contribute 
to the national network.  The fund will 
also be used to facilitate headteacher 
awareness sessions for both SLO and 
PTLS.  Cross regional collaboration will 
produce an SLO resource to support 
schools.

National Approach to 
Professional Learning 
(NAPL) Accreditation 
Project

25,000 25,000 Support the appointment of a 
manager to coordinate and 
progress accreditation of 
Professional Learning (PL) 
programmes working with partner 
Higher Education Institutions (HEIs).

Funding profiled to release CSC staff to 
support/facilitate the accreditation 
project.

Delegated 
to schools

Retained 
initially for 

future 
delegation to 

schools / 
business plan 

priorities

Retained by 
CSC for 
Specific 

Circumstances

Central 
Salaries

Total Areas to include Apportionment

Cluster Schools 14,000 14,000 Support and extend level of Funding (£3.5k per school) allocated to 

T
udalen 59



8

(Professional 
Learning Pioneers)

engagement work during the spring 
term.

4 professional learning pioneer schools.

Cluster Funding (non-
pioneer schools)

57,600 57,600 Support professional learning 
pioneers to engage cluster schools 
to professional learning enquiries 
and resource release time for 
schools outside the pioneer 
network to inform enquiry work led 
by professional learning pioneers.

Funding (£3.2k per school) allocated to 
18 professional learning pioneer 
schools.

Digital resources to 
support the common 
PL programme for 
curriculum reform

104,516 104,516 Support a common PL covering key 
areas, a common resource-set for 
use by the regions and other 
Middle Tier providers and access to 
‘live’ PL information digitally.

Funding to be used to facilitate a group 
of Professional Learning Pioneer 
schools to support the production of 
digital resources which will align to the 
NAPL. 

Development funding 
for further National 
Networks of 
Excellence

120,000 120,000 Support the creation of the 
infrastructure for AOLE and 
pedagogy networks.

 Funding allocation to establish 12 lead 
practitioner networks (2 per AoLE @ 
£5k).  

 The schools will develop the terms of 
reference for each network and will 
develop an agreed business plan for a 
£5k resource budget to support the 
development of pedagogy for the 
Curriculum for Wales.

TOTAL 3,052,753 573,424 371,300 90,000 4,087,477

T
udalen 60



Central South Consortium.  JOINT COMMITTEE MEETING

1 | P a g e

Date written:  19th March 2019

Report author:  Esther Thomas

Date of meeting where the report is being considered: 28th March 2019

Appendices attached: Report on the Efficiency & Effectiveness of the Central South 
Consortium 2017-2018

1. Purpose of the report

To provide Members with an overview of the report on the Efficiency and Effectiveness of the 
Central South Consortium 2017-2018.

2. Background

2.1 The approach taken by the Central South Consortium to evaluating the impact of its 
work has been guided by the Research and Evaluation Board chaired by a professor 
from Cardiff University.

2.2 A policy logic model is used as a tool across all strands to evaluate the effectiveness of 
the Central South Consortium.

2.3 The framework identifies a hierarchy to the value for money strands, which also cover 
the headings developed by Welsh Government for their Outcomes Framework for the 
Education Improvement Grant.

2.4 During 2017-2018 six of the Consortium’s main areas of work were selected for focused 
evaluation:-
 School Improvement Groups (SIGs)
 Pathfinders
 Hubs
 Peer Enquiry
 Closing The Gap
 Work of the Challenge Advisers

3. Overview of Performance

 Standards have continued to improve again in the main measures for every key stage, 
where current data is comparable with previous years, at a regional level in 2017-2018.

 Performance at regional level continues to exceed the national average for all 
performance measures for all key stages at the expected level, and nearly all performance 
measures at the above-expected level.

 The gap in performance between eFSM and nFSM pupils has narrowed for performance 
measures at key stage 2 and for key stage 3 Core Subject Indicator. The gap in 
performance between these groups of pupils has increased for key stage 4 Level 2+ 
Threshold, but performance of both groups of pupils has increased in the most recent, 
with nFSM pupils improving at a faster rate than eFSM pupils.

 During the most recent year, the proportion of schools in the region inspected who are 
identified for excellent practice case studies exceeds the national proportion.

Tudalen 61

Agendwm 6



Central South Consortium.  JOINT COMMITTEE MEETING

2 | P a g e

 There has been a further increase in the proportion of schools requiring “Green” support 
as part of the National Categorisation model when compared to the previous year. The 
proportion of schools requiring “Yellow”, “Amber” and “Red” support has decreased again 
in the most recent year.

 The Year 11 NEET figure for the region has continued to decrease. The figure in 2016/17 
was 1.4% whilst the corresponding figure for the region in 2012/13 was 4.1%. Nationally, 
the figure in 2012/13 was 3.7%, which has reduced to 1.6% in 2016/17. This is the second 
consecutive year that the region has a lower NEET figure that seen nationally, with the 
region now being 0.2pp below the national figure.

4. Evidence of Impact

4.1 School Improvement Groups (SIGs)

Through SIG working nearly all schools in the region are able to engage with collaborative 
school improvement and SIGs allow all schools equity of access to school improvement 
opportunities. All SIGs are able to use the capacity available in their SIG rather than in just 
their school to bring about improvement.  In the convenor survey of work from 17/18 
approximately 96% of convenors believe that their SIG has the collective capacity to meet the 
priorities of the group.  

SIG sharing events allow convenors to view the work of others in their group and to share 
barriers and enablers to specific types of work. Thematic analysis of convenor evaluations 
from 16/17 and 17/18 show positive qualitative feedback about the impact of SIG work.   
These thematic evaluations are carried out in addition to the survey and including the 
following: 

 Teacher involvement in SIG work has remains at around 95%
 The involvement of middle leaders in SIG work has increased around 40% from 22% in 

16/17 to 63% in 17/18
 Over 50% of SIGs have included joint practice development as an aspect of their SIG 

work 
 Altering practice in school as a result of SIG work has increased from 88% in 16/17 to 

94% in 17/18
 25% of SIGs have involved pupils directly in SIG work with pupils working across 

schools.

17 convenors were surveyed in 16/17 and 22 in 17/18; the group was not the same sample.
 When asked if SIG work had an impact on pupil standards 36% strongly agreed, which is 

around a 30% increase from the previous year
 Over 80% of SIG convenors agreed or strongly agreed that SIG work has a positive impact 

on teaching and learning.  This is an increase of over 50% from 2016/17
 There has been a 25% increase in the number of SIGs who strongly agree that they 

distribute SIG leadership beyond the Headteacher
 There has been an increase of over 10% of the SIG convenors who strongly agree that 

their SIG has the collective capacity to meet the needs of the group, from 41% in 16/17 to 
55% in 17/18.  In both years over 90% of SIGs either agree or strongly agree with this

Tudalen 62



Central South Consortium.  JOINT COMMITTEE MEETING

3 | P a g e

Based on effectiveness data submitted by SIGs to date there is also strong quantitative 
evidence of their impact on school improvement:

 56% of primary SIGs are able to show positive, measurable impact on standards from 
their collaborative work

 Of these, approximately 30% show a direct impact of their work 
 Approximately 25% of SIGs show a more indirect impact of their work 
 Approximately 34% of SIGs show proxy indicators of impact.  That is to say that impact 

of work during 17/18 cannot yet be evidenced but is anticipated in the future.
 Around 84% of SIGs report a direct impact on their provision as a result of 

collaborative SIG work 
 Over 68% of SIGs report a direct impact on their leadership capacity as a result of SIG 

working

4.2 Pathfinders

All pathfinder activity is monitored and evaluated, and the evidence to date highlights that 
this strategy is successful.  A baseline is established within the costed plan to ensure progress 
is measured with evaluations required after two terms in order to monitor progress.  
Evaluation considers impact against the objectives set out in the costed plan.

Collaborative advantage from partnerships in terms of capacity building and leadership:
 Middle leaders have been upskilled in the delivery of training and the mentoring and 

coaching of other staff.  All staff involved in the project reported feeling more 
confident about leading monitoring activities.

 The Pathfinder work has allowed middle leaders within the school to further develop 
the school’s leadership capacity. During the project, responsibility was passed on to 
FP Leaders who worked alongside teaching staff in their schools in order to collate 
work samples for moderation purposes. FP Leaders led the work therefore promoting 
their middle leadership ability. This was then used back in individual schools where 
middle leaders were able to reflect on the practices taking place in their own phases, 
within their school, and further draw upon the work discussed during the pathfinder 
partnership in order to improve teaching and learning, and the assessment process.

 The senior leadership team provides a clear direction to school improvements. The 
senior leadership team consists of the headteacher, deputy headteacher and 
Foundation Phase co-ordinator. Both deputy headteacher and Foundation Phase co-
ordinator have been provided with good support from partner schools. As a result, 
there has been notable progress in strategic leadership.  A new TLR post holder is to 
be appointed before the end of the Spring term.  Curriculum leadership teams have 
outlined tasks

Many pathfinder partnerships can show added value and proxy indicators of impact on a 
number of strategies introduced as a result of partnership working, for example:

 Senior Leaders use a range of strategies (Professional discussions, phase meetings, 
peer observations and support programmes) along with rigorous monitoring and 
support to manage the performance of all teachers, this is beginning to impact on 

Tudalen 63



Central South Consortium.  JOINT COMMITTEE MEETING

4 | P a g e

learner outcomes. Termly self-evaluation through PPM, PM, IPR ensure all staff are 
supported and challenged appropriately.

 Overall, there has been good progress in teaching. The challenge advisor has agreed 
the assessment of teaching undertaken by the SLT. At present teaching is 70% good 
and 30% adequate. There is more consistency in teaching throughout the school, in 
particular in planning, the approach to reading and phonics teaching. This has 
increased from 50/50 adequate good in Nov 16.

 ‘The difference in the school since September is tangible.  Presentations from key staff 
and a learning walk showed enthusiasm from both staff and pupils, a culture of 
learning and strong engagement across the school.  Distributed leadership is 
developing well.  There is a clear focus on improving the outcomes of more-able pupils 
and there is strong impact already.  Leaders are clear about the next steps.  It is clear 
that staff are benefitting from newly forged working relationships with other schools 
and external advisers/consultants and this is impacting on classroom practice’.  
(Challenge Adviser report)

 As a result, the quality of teaching has improved from 30% good teaching in July 2017, 
to 55% good teaching in January 2018, to 60% good teaching April 2018.

Quantitative evidence of the effectiveness of partnerships is considered on an individual 
basis as the focus of the work varies according to the needs of each partnership, considering 
sustainability, the use of challenge advisers to broker and support the work ensures that work 
within schools can continue to be developed.

For example, Teachers from the supported school have had the opportunity to work alongside 
teachers from the lead school planning, looking at books and observing each other delivering 
lessons. Teachers have had the opportunity to reflect on their own practice and make changes 
to their practice. Teachers from the two schools have worked together to create a ‘Teaching 
Toolkit’.  As a result, the quality of teaching has improved from 30% good teaching in July 
2017, to 55% good teaching in January 2018, to 60% good teaching April 2018.

4.3 Hub Programmes

In 2017-18:
• over 20% of CSC schools feature as part of the model to build capacity and provide 

support to others 
• 1072 practitioners attended a professional learning programme run by a Hub school.
• At least one practitioner from 73% of schools in the region have engaged with a Hub 

professional learning programme.  A continuing positive trend since the inception of 
the model

• Over 183 days of direct, in-school support was facilitated by Hub schools

Across the 3 years of the Hub model there has been a 100% increase in the number of 
practitioners attending collaborative events. 

Refinements to the model in 2017-18 have increased the focus on joint practice development 
and inquiry-led activity.  As more practitioners participate in programmes of joint practice 

Tudalen 64



Central South Consortium.  JOINT COMMITTEE MEETING

5 | P a g e

development, the evidence of the effectiveness of this approach increases.  Practitioner 
feedback following sessions demonstrate the value they place in working collaboratively with 
other schools to develop their practice.

Evaluation of the work identified that:

 nearly all practitioners reported that the actions they had undertaken as a result of the 
programme had impacted on standards and pupil outcomes

 nearly all practitioners reported that the programme had impacted positively on their own 
teaching practice

 nearly all practitioners attending leadership programmes facilitated by professional 
learning hubs reported that it had impacted positively on their leadership skills

 around a half of practitioners reported having undertaken activity to build in school 
capacity

Feedback from practitioner session evaluations welcomed the opportunity to work 
collaboratively to develop their practice in support of identified priorities.

Extended opportunities for networks of practitioners to develop practice over a period of time 
and enhance school-to-school working is a strong feature of the hub model. 

4.4 Peer Enquiry

Collaborative advantage from partnerships is evidenced where schools report impact in 
terms of capacity building and leadership:

 Senior leaders and headteachers becoming part of enquiry teams are all been trained in 
data analysis, interview techniques, observation protocols and school self-evaluation as 
well as the lead being trained to coach/mentor host headteachers.  Members of enquiry 
teams report feeling more confident about leading enquiries and analysing school 
processes.

 The enquiry team and the host school SLT work in close collaboration throughout the 
process resulting in high calibre discussions about effective practice and two-way sharing 
of ideas and systems.    The nature of the dialogue between experienced, credible school 
leaders is of immense value to all participants.  In the context of trust and openness - and 
without judgement - any school SLT must benefit from having fresh eyes looking at the 
school.  

 Peer enquiry offers specific lines of enquiry linked to school improvement and an action 
plan so that the host school has an immediate starting point for improvement. The very 
act of deciding those lines of enquiry also builds the professional skills of the enquiry team

 All the way along there was this dialogue-it was very positive it was very challenging-it 
certainly wasn't light touch

 All senior leaders involved in the process focus their attention on school improvements 
and this contributes to the development and strengthening of a school-led self-improving 
system.

Tudalen 65



Central South Consortium.  JOINT COMMITTEE MEETING

6 | P a g e

 The people who undertake the enquiry have credibility straight away. They are doing the 
job and hopefully will have a track record in securing improvement. 

 The enquiry gives concrete suggestions and practical ideas. It is not just identifying 
strengths and weaknesses like an inspection. There is also likely to be an ongoing dialogue 
and contacts built. I have taken part in three peer enquiries and have made valuable links 
that continue.

In line with added value, peer enquiries demonstrate impact and proxy indicators of impact 
on a number of strategies introduced as a result of serving headteachers and senior leaders 
working in partnership with host schools. For example:

 Just over 50% of all schools in the region have engaged with the peer enquiry model 
to date since 2015*.

 Between 2015 – 2018, 77% of all primary schools who have hosted a peer enquiry 
improved their categorisation, compared to a regional average of 57.4% for all other 
primary schools. 83.3% of secondary schools who had hosted a peer enquiry improved 
their categorisation compared with a regional average of 64.7% for all other secondary 
schools.

 Even if this is a proxy indicator, it still represents a significant increase on the regional 
average.  When we look at Key Performance indicators, in primary, 81% of those 
schools had improved their key stage 2 core subject indicators against a regional 
average improvement of 60.5%. When we look at Key Performance indicators, in 
secondary, 82% of those schools had improved their key stage 4 level 2 plus against a 
regional average of 70%. 

 Action plans focusing on school improvement are reflected in school SER 
documentation with quantitative and qualitative targets attached to expected 
outcomes

 Some challenge advisers conduct reflective conversations with host headteachers 
upon receipt of the report and Evaluation Framework improvement (EFI) reflect the 
robust specificity of those conversations 

 Many participating headteachers and senior school leaders describe the process as 
being excellent for professional development and for networking / collaboration. 
Leaders have gained a wider perspective of how other schools are run and speak of 
increased confidence to make changes in their own practice.  We have evidence from 
focus groups, surveys and interviews with senior school leaders to support this.

*The overall percentage of schools engaged in the peer enquiry process is cited here from its 
inception in 2015.  Engagement of schools/headteachers/senior school leaders is much lower 
for the year 2017 – 2018.  

4.5 Closing The Gap

The CTG Hubs offer a range of programmes across the region and have been well attended 
and the end of course evaluations demonstrate impact in the schools of participants.   Success 
of the programme was evident in presentations delivered by delegates during the day of the 

Tudalen 66



Central South Consortium.  JOINT COMMITTEE MEETING

7 | P a g e

course.   All delegates who attended the course have implemented strategies and are now in 
a position to develop the programme across their schools.

There have been four meetings of the eFSM network at which delegates were provided with 
advice and support in relation to effective PDG spending and examples of good practice.

For the previous three years CSC has closed the gap at a higher rate than the national average. 
‘There has been improvement in the performance of eFSM pupils since 2012, albeit from a 
low baseline.  The gaps in performance have narrowed in each of the four key stages, with 
foundation phase having the narrowest gap and key stage 3 evidencing the greatest reduction 
in the gap since 2012.  For every key stage, the performance of eFSM pupils has improved at 
a faster rate than non eFSM pupils at the expected level, and for most performance measures 
at key stage 4(*). In the Foundation Phase, the gap has narrowed to 12.6 pp in 2017 (a 
reduction from 19.5pp in 2012), whilst in key stage 2 the core subject indicator (CSI) gap has 
closed to 13.8pp (from 20.6pp in 2012).  However, in the most recent academic year at key 
stage 3, the gap widened slightly to 20.8pp.’ (2017/18 Highlight Report: Quarter 3)

There will now no longer be CTG focused hubs however, CSC will implement a Hub and Lead 
Practitioner model with high quality teaching and learning to be a focus of all of the hubs.

4.6 Challenge Advisers

 Overall inspection outcomes have improved
 Reduction in need for support 
 Increase in green category schools

The table below summarises the movement of schools between categories in the last 
year: 

No of Schools Support Movement
4 Red 2 schools have been red for 2 consecutive 

years
9 amber increase of 3 schools on previous year
2 red moved from amber to red
5 Amber moved from yellow to amber
3 Yellow moved from green to yellow
6 Green moved from yellow to green

2 Yellow moved from amber to yellow
1 amber moved from red to amber

Working closely with LAs we have improved our processes for identifying schools who have 
received appropriate support but progress remains poor. Termly discussions are part of LA 
performance meetings about LA statutory powers being used in red and amber schools. 

Tudalen 67



Central South Consortium.  JOINT COMMITTEE MEETING

8 | P a g e

5. Conclusions

5.1 Despite the reduced funding there were further improvement in many key performance 
indicators across schools in the region.

5.2 The Annual Surveys from October 2018 report that:-

 60% of classroom teachers, up from 50% last year, indicated a greater willingness to 
lead professional learning

 Some 76% of staff felt that working collaboratively with other schools had improved 
pupil learning and attainment and 80% of staff felt that working collaboratively with 
other schools had enhanced classroom practice

 Approximately two thirds of primary staff and just over two thirds of secondary staff 
who had worked on cross-school projects felt it had improved their overall 
leadership skills, had helped them lead learning, and provided them with support.

 Two thirds of staff stated they had involvement in action research
 The use of research evidence was reported by three quarters of staff

 Pupils were generally positive about school, with over 80% indicating that ‘for 
some’ or ‘most of the time’ they felt positive about learning and their relationships 
with teachers and classmates

 Of the three aspects covered in the survey (teachers, learning and peers) pupils 
indicated the highest level of alienation from learning

 There was a positive correlation between social well-being and pupils’ level of 
alienation. Pupils’ who stated they rarely or never felt alienated from learning, 
were more likely to value school in terms of it providing them with social status 
and approval

 If pupils valued school in terms of their physical well-being, that is as a friendly and 
welcoming place, they were more likely to be comfortable in taking risks, not worry 
when they made a mistake and to persevere even when work was difficult

 Overall, primary school pupils were more positive than secondary school pupils 
about their teachers’ ability to support their learning, in respect of finding out what 
they already know.

 The vast majority of pupils agreed or strongly agreed that they kept on working 
until they finished even when they found their work was difficult

 Students who agreed or strongly agreed that they have a say in what they learn 
about in lessons and how they are taught in school were less likely to report that 
they found it hard to concentrate or were easily distracted. As school years 
progress, pupils feel they have increasingly less influence over what and how they 
are taught.

5.3 Further work is need to :-
 Improve the way in which we demonstrate the impact of our work
 Quality assurance provision and ensure that professional learning programmes 

have clear success criteria to measure impact
 Align fully with the national model for professional learning

Tudalen 68



Central South Consortium.  JOINT COMMITTEE MEETING

9 | P a g e

 Ensure provision fully meets local, regional and national needs
 Recognise the changing national context and ensure a comprehensive programme 

of professional learning to prepare all schools for all aspects of education reform
 Further develop and embed a cluster approach
 Refine the Peer Enquiry Model
 Further review the role of Challenge Advisers

Tudalen 69



tudalen wag



The Efficiency and 
Effectiveness of Central 

South Consortium
2017 - 2018

Tudalen 71



2

CONTENTS

1.0 Purpose of the Report 4

1.1 Background 4

2.0 Overview of Performance 5

3.0 Overview of Funding 10

3.1 Core Contributions 10

3.2 Grants 11

4.0 Overview of  Main Strands 14

4.1 School Improvement Groups (SIGs) 14

4.2 Pathfinders 16

3.3 Hubs Programme 18

4.4 Peer Enquiry 20

4.5 Closing the Gap 22

4.6 Challenge Advisers 24

5.0 Conclusion 26

6.0 Recommendations 30

APPENDIX A Central South Consortium Outcomes 32

1.1 Foundation Phase Outcomes 32

1.2 Key Stage 2 – Core Subject Indicators 34

1.3 Key Stage 3 – Core Subject Indicator 36

1.4 Key Stage 4 – Level 2 Threshold inc EWM 38

1.5 Key Stage 5 – Level 3 40

1.6 eFSM Performance 41

APPENDIX B Central South Consortium (Inspection Outcomes) 46

1.1 Inspection Areas 1-5 47

Tudalen 72



3

1.2 Inspection Follow up 48

1.3 Excellent Practice Case Study 50

APPENDIX C Categorisation 51

APPENDIX D Additional performance Measures 52

Tudalen 73



4

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

This report provides an overview of performance and the funding received by Central South 
Consortium (CSC) in the academic year 2017 – 2018. It is designed to provide Local Authorities (LA), 
schools, Welsh Government (WG) and other stakeholders with a clear and comprehensive report on 
the efficiency and effectiveness of the work of CSC. 

The main body of the report provides an analysis of the progress made in relation to a number of key 
strands of work which CSC identified with Local Authorities and schools as priorities within its business 
plan for 2017-18. It provides an overview of the activities undertaken in relation to each strand, 
provides quantitative and qualitative information on outputs and outcomes to date and comments on 
the impact achieved so far. More detailed information on performance measures and funding is then 
included in a series of annexes to the report.  

1.1 BACKGROUND

The approach to evaluation of impact has been guided by a Research and Evaluation Board, chaired 
by a Professor from Cardiff University who reports to both the Directors’ Group and Joint Committee. 
The Research and Evaluation Board have developed a policy logic model which is used as a tool across 
all strands of work to evaluate the effectiveness of CSC.  This provides a graphical representation of 
the logical relationships between inputs, activities, outputs and outcomes leading to the identified 
impact. The framework identifies a hierarchy to the Vale for Money (VFM) strands, with all areas 
required to provide a commentary on the effectiveness of individual strategies.

Chart 1 – Value for Money hierarchy in Central South Consortium

The framework also covers the headings developed by Welsh Government for their outcomes 
framework for the Education Improvement Grant (EIG).  

During 2017/18 six of the Consortium’s main areas of work: School Improvement Groups (SIGs), 
Pathfinders, Hubs, Peer Enquiry, Closing the Gap (CTG) and the work of Challenge Advisers were 

Tudalen 74



5

selected for focused evaluation. This report will therefore provide a detailed assessment of impact in 
each of theses areas. It will start however by providing an overview of performance and funding in 
2017-18. 

2.0 OVERVIEW OF PERFORMANCE

CSC provide an overview of the performance of key pupil groups at each key stage, inspection 
outcomes, attendance, exclusions and categorisation outcomes are outlined below.  Full analysis of 
this year’s performance data is presented in Annex A. 

Performance by age:

2.1 FOUNDATION PHASE (FP)

Please note that due to revisions to the Foundation Phase Areas of Learning comparisons with 
previous years should be treated with caution, as they cannot be measured on a comparable basis.

At the expected level, all performance measures are above the National average for 2018 results. All 
of the performance indicators in the Foundation Phase (FP) have fallen in the most recent year but, as 
stated above, comparisons against previous years should be treated with caution. At the above 
expected level, the consortium exceeds the National average for Language Literacy and 
Communication – English (LLCE) and Mathematical Development (MDT), but is below the National 
average for Language Literacy and Communication – Welsh (LLCW) and Personal and Social 
Development (PSD). 

The Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator (FPOI) has fallen to its lowest position over the last three 
year period, but the decrease seen for CSC is smaller than that seen nationally for this performance 
measure for the most recent year and also over the last three year period. All five LAs in the Region 
saw decreases for this performance measure in the 2018, with only RCT seeing a decrease larger than 
that seen nationally, which has resulted in the LA continuing to be below the national average for this 
performance measure.

2.2 KEY STAGE 2 (KS2)

In all performance measures at KS2, CSC continues to perform above the national average at both the 
expected level and above the expected level. This includes all aspects of English and Welsh. There has 
been further improvements in the Core Subject Indicator (CSI) for CSC during the latest academic year. 
Two of the five LAs have improved, with Bridgend, RCT and Merthyr Tydfil decreasing by 1.0pp, 0.8pp 
and 2.0pp respectively. The rate of improvement in the consortium since 2015 at 2.4pp is greater than 
that seen across Wales (1.8pp).

2.3 KEY STAGE 3 (KS3)

At the expected level, improvements have been made in three main performance measures again 
during the latest academic year, and all main performance measures are above the Wales average. 
The greatest improvement in the most recent academic year is seen in mathematics (1.2pp) with the 

Tudalen 75



6

greatest improvement over the latest three-year period being made in CSI (5.2pp). Performance in 
both Cymraeg and Science fell over the most recent academic year by 0.6pp and 0.3pp respectively.

At level 6+, improvements of between 1.0pp and 3.3pp have been made in all four of the main 
measures, and all measure exceed the Wales average at level 6+. The greatest improvement in the 
most recent academic year (3.3pp) and over the latest three-year period (10.7pp) has been made in 
English. At level 7+, improvements have been made in all four performance indicators in the most 
recent academic year, with the greatest improvement seen in English (3.2pp). The greatest 
improvement over the latest three-year period is seen in mathematics (8.1pp). English, mathematics 
and science continue to be above the Wales average, with Cymraeg falling to 0.5pp below the Wales 
average.

The CSI has improved year-on-year at the consortium level, with all LAs in the Region improving in the 
most recent year. The range of improvement over the latest three-year period is from 6.3pp in RCT to 
3.9pp in Cardiff. The improvement for the region over the same period is 5.2pp which compares 
favourably against the Wales improvement of 4.2pp. 

2.4 KEY STAGE 4 (KS4)

Please note: Welsh Government introduced key changes to the performance measures data for 
reporting in 2016/17. Therefore, caution should be used when comparing 2016/17 and 2017/18 data 
with previous years data for the majority of performance indicators over the last two years. 

The Level 2+ threshold increased from the position seen in 2017, and now stands at 57.6%. All five LAs 
in the region saw an increase in the most recent year, with improvements of between 0.3pp and 5.9pp 
being seen across the Region.

Over the latest three-year period, improvement can be seen in both the Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff 
LAs, however, the regional picture shows a decrease of 0.9pp over this period, which compares against 
a National decrease of 2.8pp.

2.5 KEY STAGE 5 (KS5)

Increases are evident for all performance measures at Key Stage 5 in the most recent year. The region 
exceeds the National average for all four performance measures in the most recent year. The Level 3 
Threshold for the region has increased for the most recent academic year, to its highest ever position.

2.6 Eligible for Free School Meals (eFSM) 

The gap between eFSM and non-eFSM has widened for FPOI and KS4 Level 2+ measures but narrowed 
for KS2 at both expected and above expected level and for KS3 CSI. 

The performance of both eFSM and non eFSM has fallen in the most recent year for FPOI, however, 
the performance of eFSM pupils has fallen at a faster rate than the non eFSM pupils, and therefore, 
the gap has widened for this performance measure.

The gaps in performance between eFSM and non eFSM pupils has decreased for all performance 
measures at both the expected level and above-expected level in the most recent year for KS2. The 
performance of eFSM pupils has increased for all performance measures at both the expected level 

Tudalen 76



7

and above-expected level in the most recent, but the performance on non eFSM pupils is more 
variable. 

At the KS2 expected level, non eFSM performance fell for all performance measures (with the 
exception of mathematics, where there was no change in performance). Whilst at the KS2 
above expected-level, improvements are seen for English, and mathematics, but drops in performance 
are seen for Cymraeg and science for non eFSM pupils.

For the KS3 CSI, the gap in performance between eFSM and non eFSM pupils has narrowed to its 
lowest position seen over the previous four years. In addition, the gap has narrowed whilst 
performance has increased for both pupil groups in the most recent academic year.

For KS4, the gap in performance between eFSM and non eFSM pupils in the region has increased for 
Level 2+ Threshold. However, this is seen against improving performance for both groups of pupils, 
but non eFSM pupils have improved at a faster rate in the most recent which has resulted in the 
increase of the gap. The national gap in performance seen for this performance measure is narrower 
than that for the region.

2.7 GENDER

For each key stage, girls continue to out-perform boys at the expected level. At the above-expected 
level, girls continue to out-perform boys, with the only exception being seen for MDT O5+, 
Mathematics KS2 L5+ and KS5 3A*-A grades.

The gap in performance is narrowing for nearly all performance measures for FP and KS5. However, 
the gap in performance is widening for most performance measures at KS2, KS3 and KS4. At KS2, the 
performance of girls is increasing, with the performance of boys falling back. At KS3, performance for 
both boys and girls is increasing, but girls are increasing at a faster rate than boys. For KS4, 
improvements have been made by both boys and girls for nearly all performance measures, with girls 
increasing at a faster rate than boys.

2.8 INSPECTION OUTCOMES

There was a slight increase in the number of schools inspected in CSC in 2017/18 compared to the 
previous academic year. (61 schools in 2017/18 compared to 56 schools in 2016/17.)

The proportion of schools in CSC judged as either excellent or good is above the national proportion 
for Inspection Area 4 (IA4 – Care, Support and Guidance). However, the Region is below the national 
proportion of inspections judged as either excellent or good for the remaining four inspection areas. 
Both the Vale of Glamorgan and Merthyr Tydfil LAs have 100% of schools inspected judged as either 
excellent or good for all five Inspection Areas in the most recent year.

Central South Consortium has slightly fewer schools not placed into a follow-up activity than the 
national proportion. The proportion of schools placed into each follow-up activity are similar for CSC 
and Wales for Estyn Review and Significant Improvement, but CSC has a higher proportion of schools 
placed into Special Measures than seen nationally.

Tudalen 77



8

Nearly four in ten schools inspected in the Region are invited to create an excellent practice case study 
following their inspection. This compares favourably to the National proportion of schools invited to 
create a case study of 32.5%.

2.9 CATEGORISATION

There has been an increase in the number of schools whose improvement capacity is judged to be A 
and a reduction in the proportion of schools whose improvement capacity is B, C or D. Over the two 
year period (out of the 396 schools in the region where we have published National Categorisation 
Support Categories), a total of 365 schools have either remained in the same support category or 
moved up at least one support category, with 24 schools moving down one support category. In 
addition, 4 schools have moved down two support categories, with 3 schools moving up two support 
categories.  

2.12 NOT IN EDUCATION EMPLOYMENT OR TRAINING (NEET)

The Year 11 NEET figure for the region has continued to decrease. The figure in 2016/17 was 1.4% 
whilst the corresponding figure for the region in 2012/13 was 4.1%. Nationally, the figure in 2012/13 
was 3.7%, which has reduced to 1.6% in 2016/17. This is the second consecutive year that the region 
has a lower NEET figure that seen nationally, with the region now being 0.2pp below the national 
figure. 

2.13 PUPIL AND STAFF FEEDBACK

In addition to the performance data available CSC is also collecting qualitative feedback about the 
impact of key strands of activity through an annual survey completed by staff and pupils in 20% of 
schools in the region. The highlights from the November 2018 survey include: 

Staff Survey:-

 Some 60% of classroom teachers, up from 50% last year, indicated a greater willingness to 
lead professional learning

 Some 76% of staff felt that working collaboratively with other schools had improved pupil 
learning and attainment and 80% of staff felt that working collaboratively with other schools 
had enhanced classroom practice

 Approximately two thirds of primary staff and just over two thirds of secondary staff who had 
worked on cross-school projects felt it had improved their overall leadership skills, had helped 
them lead learning, and provided them with support.

 Two thirds of staff stated they had involvement in action research
 The use of research evidence was reported by three quarters of staff

Pupil Survey:-

 Pupils were generally positive about school, with over 80% indicating that ‘for some’ or ‘most 
of the time’ they felt positive about learning and their relationships with teachers and 
classmates

Tudalen 78



9

 Of the three aspects covered in the survey (teachers, learning and peers) pupils indicated the 
highest level of alienation from learning

 There was a positive correlation between social well-being and pupils’ level of alienation. 
Pupils’ who stated they rarely or never felt alienated from learning, were more likely to value 
school in terms of it providing them with social status and approval

 If pupils valued school in terms of their physical well-being, that is as a friendly and welcoming 
place, they were more likely to be comfortable in taking risks, not worry when they made a 
mistake and to persevere even when work was difficult

 Overall, primary school pupils were more positive than secondary school pupils about their 
teachers’ ability to support their learning, in respect of finding out what they already know.

 The vast majority of pupils agreed or strongly agreed that they kept on working until they 
finished even when they found their work was difficult

 Students who agreed or strongly agreed that they have a say in what they learn about in 
lessons and how they are taught in school were less likely to report that they found it hard to 
concentrate or were easily distracted. As school years progress, pupils feel they have 
increasingly less influence over what and how they are taught.

Tudalen 79



3.0 OVERVIEW OF FUNDING

The Consortium’s Funding is made up of two principal sources: 

 Core Local Authority Funding with individual local authority contributions determined using 
the Indicator Based Assessment for education (IBA) and agreed by Joint Committee. 

 Dedicated funding for schools and school improvement routed through consortia by Welsh 
Government. Major Welsh Government grants such as Regional Consortia School 
Improvement rant (RCSIG) are administered by consortia and delegated to schools via local 
authorities.  The consortia are able to retain elements of the grants (amounts set in the terms 
and conditions of each grant) on a regional basis to support local and national school 
improvement priorities

The recent trends in both of these sources of income for the Consortium are detailed below. 

3.1 CORE CONTRIBUTIONS 

The original National Model recommended £5.4m of contributions to the Central South Consortium 
from the Local Authorities but the actual contributions received in 2015-16 were considerably less 
than this. The Consortium has delivered a further 5% reduction in Local Authority contributions in 
financial year 2016/17 and 2017/18. as shown in the table below.   Therefore, £430k of efficiency 
savings have been achieved over the last two years.   The following strategies have been developed 
to ensure increased efficiency and effectiveness:

• Efficiency savings from a rigorous approach to budget planning and oversight with a focus on value 
for money including increasing income from the use of the building in particular.

• Service redesign proposals particularly around the more traditional services provided, literacy, 
numeracy and Welsh in particular, where there is an opportunity to move to a school-led model 
by identifying lead practitioners and specialist centres with capacity to support other schools. 

• Reviewing the workforce structure as a result of a better information management system, in 
particular the senior team structure and the numbers of challenge adviser posts to adopt a risk 
based approach to challenge and support.

The Consortium received c£3.9m contributions from the five Local Authorities in 2017-18.  The 
funding was utilised to support the core function of school improvement.    Below is a summary of 
the financial outputs for 2017- 18 by individual Local Authority, the senior Challenge adviser and 
challenge adviser figures reflect where actual support is deployed, all other costs are apportioned by 
IBA :-

Tudalen 80



11

Cost Category Outturn 
2017-18

City & 
County of 

Cardiff

Bridgend 
CBC

Vale of 
Glam 
CBC

Merthyr 
CBC

RCT CBC

£ £ £ £ £

36.02% 15.59% 14.71% 6.39% 27.29%

LA Contributions 3,985,879  1,435,669  621,381  586,223  254,827  1,087,779 

Senior Challenge Advisers  477,431  135,971  68,004  70,361  67,523  135,572 

Challenge Advisers 1,631,330  587,587  254,317  239,928  104,295  445,203 

Other Employees 1,354,186  487,763  211,111  199,167  86,576  369,569 

Premises  493,871  177,887  76,992  72,636  31,574  134,781 

Transport  25,404  9,151  3,960  3,736  1,624  6,933 

Supplies & Services  474,689  170,978  74,002  69,815  30,348  129,546 

Commissioning:-

Support Services 118,003  42,504  18,396  17,355  7,544  32,204 

Gross Core Expenditure* 4,574,914  1,611,839  706,783  672,998  329,485  1,253,809 

% SPEND RECEIVED 35.23% 15.45% 14.71% 7.20% 27.41%
*£3,986k of contributions were received from LAs however the gross expenditure incurred reached £4,596k.   This 
was net off by £459k of income received in Ty Dysgu and £151k of grant funding / school income.   

CSC apportioned budget for regional services according to the specific needs of schools identified 
through the categorisation process.  Additional support through the Central South Wales Challenge 
and intensive support for specific schools is also outlined above.  In 2017 – 2018, expenditure in two 
out of the five LAs was higher than the amounts they had contributed (in line with the consortium 
core value to deploy resources to the areas of greatest need).   

3.2 ADDITIONAL FUNDING - GRANTS

In addition to the core contributions from LAs the Consortium was also in receipt of grant funding 
from Welsh Government.  In 2017-18 the following funding was received:-

Tudalen 81



12

 
Grant Total

£

Delegated

£

Centrally 
Retained
£

Education Improvement Grant (EIG) 45,677,495 42,498,340 3,179,155
Pupil Development Grant (PDG) 30,517,400 28,943,650 1,573,750
Year 2 – 6 National Numerical Reasoning Test 
2017

5,000 0 5,000

Advisory Team on Delivery of FP Nursery Provision 
for 3-4 year Olds

3,784 0 3,784

LiDW £150,462 50,000 100,462
Schools Challenge Cymru 78,945 0 78,945
Support for children and young people's informal 
use of Welsh

77,800 0 77,800

South Wales Valleys Project 52,500 38,905 13,595

Raising Schools Standards 2,961,911 1,130,000 1,831,911

Pioneer Schools Network & Professional Learning 
& Curriculum and Development

2,080,714 1,712,465 731,249

Total 81,6060,12 74,373,360 7,595,651

In order to manage these grant streams effectively, the Consortium adhere to strict governance 
arrangements:- 

 Initial allocations are provided by Welsh Government and apportionment proposals presented to 
Directors for challenge and agreement.  (Guidance taken from regional finance leads on the 
impact of proposals) 

 Director decisions shared with regional finance group to determine operational processes
 CSC Grants team identify project managers and budget holders (agreement to schemes of 

delegation)
 Monthly budget monitoring meetings provide evidence for management dashboard to SLT and 

Directors
 Consortium devise service level agreements between schools and LAs for grant funding initiatives 

to hold stakeholders to account 
 The CSC Grants team work to a grant compliance framework by reviewing school improvement 

plans against grant terms and conditions

Elements of the above grants were utilised to commission work and support packages for schools 
across the region.  These funds were allocated according to the needs of individual schools, local 
authorities, the region and nationally.

Tudalen 82



13

Initiatives have been split out below into regional support as well as identified LA requirements and 
those specific funded projects in 2017/2018:

3.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS OF REGIONAL WORKING

In 2017/2018, monetary benefits of regional working were achieved by Bridgend and Vale of 
Glamorgan (compared with Merthyr, RCT and Vale of Glamorgan in 2016/2017, Merthyr and RCT in 
2015/2016 and Cardiff and Merthyr in 2014/2015) specifically but the additional benefits of working 
regionally can also be seen in the impact on both standards and outcomes across the region.  The table 
below summarises the financial outputs:- 

City & 
County of 

Cardiff

Bridgend 
CBC

Vale of 
Glam CBC

Merthyr 
CBC

RCT CBC

£ £ £ £ £

Cost Category Outturn 
2017/18

36.02% 15.59% 14.71% 6.39% 27.29%
Regional Support to LAs :
Support for Vulnerable Schools  205,300  137,748  19,902  6,970  625  40,055 
PDG CLA  329,112  116,742  44,474  48,177  21,512  98,207 
LIDW  93,360  38,185  13,820  28,180  180  12,995 
Specific Projects
Hubs  1,701,670  557,002  251,251  286,417  120,000  487,000 
Pathfinder Support  141,000  59,000  22,000  26,000  16,000  18,000 
Peer Enquiry  23,350  3,750  250  4,100  -    15,250 
School Improvements Groups  726,560  224,404  88,689  91,734  47,085  274,648 
Governor Improvement Groups  6,000  -    -    1,500  4,500  -   
Leadership  410,868  140,545  85,780  81,078  22,100  81,365 
Literacy  2,775  900  225  75  675  900 
Pioneer  1,349,465  418,892  305,000  285,000  40,000  300,573 
New Deal Pioneer Network  669,248  216,715  94,700  94,200  45,900  217,733 
NQTP Induction  47,750  15,600  5,850  13,650  250  12,400 
Digital Competency Framework  78,200  15,200  6,600  24,600  12,600  19,200 
Assessment for Learning  51,100  5,325  5,925  20,275  225  19,350 
Modern Foreign Languages  11,600  5,100  3,000  2,300  -    1,200 
Welsh Linguistic Skills  225,305  73,911  36,330  22,550  25,177  67,337 
Welsh Language Charter  19,000  6,750  2,000  2,750  -    7,500 
South Wales Valleys Project  38,905  -    3,850  -    19,655  15,400 
Closing the Gap  40,350  40,000  -    350  -    -   
School Challenge Cymru  303,684  180,466  60,921  61,196  552  549 
Specific LA Support
Collaboration Project  15,000  -    -    -    -    15,000 
Celebrating Excellence  18,246  -    -    18,246  -    -   
Foundation Phase  1,746  -    -    1,746  -    -   
Headteacher Conference  2,500  -    -    2,500  -    -   
LA Annex  128,421  46,262  20,023  18,992  8,095  35,049 
Total  6,640,515 2,302,497 1,070,590  1,142,586  385,131  1,739,711 
% spend received 34.67% 16.12% 17.21% 5.80% 26.20%

Tudalen 83



14

City & 
County of 

Cardiff 

Bridgend 
CBC

Vale of 
Glam 
CBC

Merthyr 
CBC

RCT 
CBC

£ £ £ £ £

Cost Category Outturn 
2017/18

36.02% 15.59% 14.71% 6.39% 27.29%
Gross Core Expenditure 4,574,914  1,611,839  706,783  672,998  329,485  1,253,809 
Delegated Grant  6,640,515  2,302,497  1,070,590  1,142,586  385,131  1,739,711 
Total Expenditure  11,215,429  3,914,336  1,777,373  1,815,584  714,616  2,993,520 
% Spend Received 34.90% 15.85% 16.19% 6.37% 26.69%

4.0 REVIEWING OUR MAIN STRANDS OF ACTIVITY

There are six main strands of activity that have been collectively identified as critical elements which 
have an impact upon school improvement across the region. We provide below an overview of the 
objective of each strand, what we have done this year, evidence of impact to date and next steps. 

4.1 School Improvement Groups (SIGS)

Background and Objectives
All schools have been placed in cross-regional school improvement groups. Each SIG is composed of 
schools from different local authorities, in different places on their learning journey and with different 
socio-economic intakes.  A headteacher in each group acts as the Convenor.  The role of the convenor 
is facilitating collaborative working and coordinating work across schools in the SIG. 

The SIGs have a number of aims but are essentially intended to support schools to work  collaboratively 
in order to focus on and secure improvement in key aspects of school improvement and to deepen 
and engage in joint practice development between schools in the group. School Improvement Groups 
(SIGS) are provided with minimal levels of seed funding (£500 per school per primary SIG and £1500 
per school per secondary SIG) to facilitate collaborative working.  

What have we done this year? 

Convenors were asked to submit a plan, mid-year evaluation and final evaluation on behalf of the 
group. Plans are monitored to ensure that they remain focus on local, regional or national priorities.  
Each SIG provides an evaluation of its work based on the SIG improvement targets set. SIG plans have 
a keen focus on relevant school improvement priorities and the opportunities for schools to share 
expertise across LAs showing efficiency.  

In terms of sustainability headteachers who act as convenors to coordinate the work of SIGs on behalf 
of the region are funded £1,500 per year.  In order to access the funding convenors agree to:

 Regularly attend and contribute to (or send replacements on their behalf) SIG development 
sessions provided by CSC and Cardiff University,

 Contribute to and collate an on-going evaluation of one focus of their SIG working,
 Provide a summary case study and be willing to share the successful working of their SIG 

across the region.

Tudalen 84



15

What evidence of impact do we have? 

Through SIG working nearly all schools in the region are able to engage with collaborative school 
improvement and SIGs allow all schools equity of access to school improvement opportunities. All SIGs 
are able to use the capacity available in their SIG rather than in just their school to bring about 
improvement.  In the convenor survey of work from 17/18 approximately 96% of convenors believe 
that their SIG has the collective capacity to meet the priorities of the group.  

SIG sharing events allow convenors to view the work of others in their group and to share barriers and 
enablers to specific types of work. Thematic analysis of convenor evaluations from 16/17 and 17/18 
show positive qualitative feedback about the impact of SIG work.   These thematic evaluations are 
carried out in addition to the survey and including the following: 

• Teacher involvement in SIG work has remains at around 95%
• The involvement of middle leaders in SIG work has increased around 40% from 22% in 16/17 

to 63% in 17/18
• Over 50% of SIGs have included joint practice development as an aspect of their SIG work 
• Altering practice in school as a result of SIG work has increased from 88% in 16/17 to 94% in 

17/18
• 25% of SIGs have involved pupils directly in SIG work with pupils working across schools.

17 convenors were surveyed in 16/17 and 22 in 17/18; the group was not the same sample.
 When asked if SIG work had an impact on pupil standards 36% strongly agreed, which is around a 

30% increase from the previous year
 Over 80% of SIG convenors agreed or strongly agreed that SIG work has a positive impact on 

teaching and learning.  This is an increase of over 50% from 2016/17
 There has been a 25% increase in the number of SIGs who strongly agree that they distribute SIG 

leadership beyond the Headteacher
 There has been an increase of over 10% of the SIG convenors who strongly agree that their SIG 

has the collective capacity to meet the needs of the group, from 41% in 16/17 to 55% in 17/18.  In 
both years over 90% of SIGs either agree or strongly agree with this

Based on effectiveness data submitted by SIGs to date there is also strong quantitative evidence of 
their impact on school improvement:

 56% of primary SIGs are able to show positive, measurable impact on standards from their 
collaborative work

 Of these, approximately 30% show a direct impact of their work 
 Approximately 25% of SIGs show a more indirect impact of their work 
 Approximately 34% of SIGs show proxy indicators of impact.  That is to say that impact of 

work during 17/18 cannot yet be evidenced but is anticipated in the future.
 Around 84% of SIGs report a direct impact on their provision as a result of collaborative 

SIG work 
 Over 68% of SIGs report a direct impact on their leadership capacity as a result of SIG 

working

For example, one SIG has provided feedback of the impact of their work:-

“The impact on the pupils has been very positive. They are more aware of their role in their own 
learning and pupil engagement was positively impacted.  The co-construction of success criteria has 
had a positive impact on the teaching and learning. The children have a better understanding of what 

Tudalen 85



16

it is they are learning and how they are able to attain it. The introduction of random Learning Partners 
was very positive. Once the children were trained in ‘how to be a good learning partner’ almost all 
pairings were successful.  The introduction of Learning Partners also developed more independence in 
many of the children.   The introduction of the Learning Zones was very powerful concept and 
accessible to even the younger pupils. It allowed all pupils to reflect on their own learning and what 
they thought they needed to do to get to their next step. Pupils are more confident and know what 
they have to do to succeed. There has been a marked improvement in pupils reasoning skills, this was 
reflected in the WG reasoning tests.  95% of pupils scored +SS85, compared to 87% in 2017. 10% of 
pupils scored +SS115, an increase of 4% since 2017. There was considerable progress in year 3, the 
class that has had both the trial year and whole school year of the project. 92% of pupils achieved 
+SS85 compared to 78% in 2017. 8% scored +SS115, double the number in 2017 of 4%. In year 6 97% 
of pupils scores +SS85 compared to 65% in 2017 – a 32% improvement. There was also excellent 
improvement at +SS115 with 20% achieving this level in 2018 compared to 3% in 2017”.

Next Steps 

The quality of SIG work has been supported by the use of the ‘onion diagram’ as a mechanism to 
measure the depth of working by schools.  This tool allows convenors to seek to deepen their 
professional learning through SIGs to impact directly on pupil standards.    Based on work completed 
in 17/18:

 One SIG has a focus on visits to SIG schools by headteachers with a focus of discussion 
and sharing remaining at the weakest level of engagement

 A third are working at the next level, evaluating the impact of different or improved 
approaches to teaching and learning, revision of policies to embed improved approaches

 Around a third are operating at level 3 where they disseminate information back to their 
home school on different approaches to teaching and learning but cannot evidence the 
impact of the work on data.

 Around a third of SIGs are operating at the outermost level and deepest form of 
engagement through being able to show improved pupil knowledge, understanding and 
skills as evidenced through on-going summative assessments, national test results and 
end of phase/stage assessments

Our priorities for the next academic year for SIGs therefore are to:

 Deepen the joint working for SIGs where schools are only working at outer levels of 
engagement to date

 Reset SIGs where collaboration is underdeveloped.
 Ensure all SIGs have an effective convenor who will be a professional learning lead will be 

responsible for working across schools to facilitate joint practice development activities and 
enquiry.  

 Ensure all schools are clear about the respective roles of SIGs and Clusters by developing clear 
communication around the role of SIGs and clusters in the CSWC.

Tudalen 86



17

4.2 Pathfinders

Background and Objectives

Pathfinder pairs are brokered partnerships between two schools where one school supports another 
to improve. Improvement impact on both schools is measured.  They are more intensive pairings of 
schools that have been created to develop a specific area. The partnerships are facilitated by the 
challenge adviser of the supported school who provides support and direction to the work as required.

Pathfinder partnerships are created following approval from the resource board.  Schools work with 
challenge advisers to create a costed plan which focusses on the specific identified improvement area.  
Funding is allocated by the board based on needs identified.  The Board comprises members of the 
senior leadership team who review the support plan for the school and evaluate all forms of support 
available including available hub support.  Only if all other options are deemed inappropriate, is 
additional funding provided for a pathfinder relationship.

What have we done this year?

The table below provides an overview of the pathfinder activity this year in each Local Authority: 

In cohort 5 there was 31 partnerships, 2 triads and 1 quad.

Activity taking place in each pathfinder partnership varies in terms of content and timescale but is 
always based on the costed plan that has been approved by the resource board.

What evidence of impact do we have? 

All pathfinder activity is monitored and evaluated, and the evidence to date highlights that this 
strategy is successful.  A baseline is established within the costed plan to ensure progress is measured 
with evaluations required after two terms in order to monitor progress.  Evaluation considers impact 
against the objectives set out in the costed plan.  

 Collaborative advantage from partnerships in terms of capacity building and leadership:

 Middle leaders have been upskilled in the delivery of training and the mentoring and coaching 
of other staff.  All staff involved in the project reported feeling more confident about leading 
monitoring activities.

 The Pathfinder work has allowed middle leaders within the school to further develop the 
school’s leadership capacity. During the project, responsibility was passed on to FP Leaders 
who worked alongside teaching staff in their schools in order to collate work samples for 
moderation purposes. FP Leaders led the work therefore promoting their middle leadership 

Cohort 5 Number of Lead 
School

Number of schools 
being supported

TOTAL Schools

Bridgend 4 7 11
Cardiff 14 15 29
Merthyr Tydfil 3 4 7
Rhonda Cynon Taf 6 2 8
Vale of Glamorgan 4 9 13
Caerphilly 1 0 1

Tudalen 87



18

ability. This was then used back in individual schools where middle leaders were able to reflect 
on the practices taking place in their own phases, within their school, and further draw upon 
the work discussed during the pathfinder partnership in order to improve teaching and 
learning, and the assessment process.

 The senior leadership team provides a clear direction to school improvements. The senior 
leadership team consists of the headteacher, deputy headteacher and Foundation Phase co-
ordinator. Both deputy headteacher and Foundation Phase co-ordinator have been provided 
with good support from partner schools. As a result, there has been notable progress in 
strategic leadership.  A new TLR post holder is to be appointed before the end of the Spring 
term.  Curriculum leadership teams have outlined tasks

Many pathfinder partnerships can show added value and proxy indicators of impact on a number of 
strategies introduced as a result of partnership working, for example: 

 Senior Leaders use a range of strategies (Professional discussions, phase meetings, peer 
observations and support programmes) along with rigorous monitoring and support to 
manage the performance of all teachers, this is beginning to impact on learner outcomes. 
Termly self-evaluation through PPM, PM, IPR ensure all staff are supported and challenged 
appropriately.

 Overall, there has been good progress in teaching. The challenge advisor has agreed the 
assessment of teaching undertaken by the SLT. At present teaching is 70% good and 30% 
adequate. There is more consistency in teaching throughout the school, in particular in 
planning, the approach to reading and phonics teaching. This has increased from 50/50 
adequate good in Nov 16.

 ‘The difference in the school since September is tangible.  Presentations from key staff and a 
learning walk showed enthusiasm from both staff and pupils, a culture of learning and strong 
engagement across the school.  Distributed leadership is developing well.  There is a clear 
focus on improving the outcomes of more-able pupils and there is strong impact already.  
Leaders are clear about the next steps.  It is clear that staff are benefitting from newly forged 
working relationships with other schools and external advisers/consultants and this is 
impacting on classroom practice’.  (Challenge Adviser report)

 As a result, the quality of teaching has improved from 30% good teaching in July 2017, to 55% 
good teaching in January 2018, to 60% good teaching April 2018.

Quantitative evidence of the effectiveness of partnerships is considered on an individual basis as the 
focus of the work varies according to the needs of each partnership, considering sustainability, the 
use of challenge advisers to broker and support the work ensures that work within schools can 
continue to be developed.

For example, Teachers from the supported school have had the opportunity to work alongside 
teachers from the lead school planning, looking at books and observing each other delivering lessons. 
Teachers have had the opportunity to reflect on their own practice and make changes to their practice. 
Teachers from the two schools have worked together to create a ‘Teaching Toolkit’.  As a result, the 
quality of teaching has improved from 30% good teaching in July 2017, to 55% good teaching in 
January 2018, to 60% good teaching April 2018.

Tudalen 88



19

Next steps

 Pathfinders to be rebranded as school to school support but continue to be brokered by 
Challenge Advisers as and where needed.

 School to school work to build capacity, strengthen leadership and improve practice at all 
levels within the linked schools and to mutually benefit from sharing and creating effective 
practice.  Early intervention in those schools most at risk.

 Professional learning alliance hubs to each receive £5k of their budget to support the school 
to school support agenda through providing support as requested by the Resource Board. 

4.3 Hub Programmes

Background and Objectives

The first model of Hub schools within CSC was established in 2014 and included OLEVI Hubs, Hubs and 
Specialist Centres. The model was re-set in 2016-17 following a review and it was identified that 
system changes were required in order to meet the needs of the region. 

In 2017-18, CSC Hub schools continued to support regional strategy to deliver the school-led 
professional learning offer as one of the cornerstones of the Central South Wales Challenge.   All Hub 
programmes aligned to a common set of expectations, contributing to a regional offer that comprising 
of over 200 programmes. 

CSC Hub schools:

 Develop the capacity of the system to be self-improving
 Promote school-to-school collaboration
 Develop joint practice development networks and share practice
 Increase inquiry-led and inquiry-informed practice
 Support national and regional improvement priorities
 Provide professional learning opportunities for practitioners across the region
 Deliver time-limited school-to-school intervention and support for vulnerable schools 

What have we done this year?

In 2017-18:

 Hub schools were funded to provide capacity to facilitate inquiry-led professional learning 
programmes and time-limited intervention and support for vulnerable schools.  

 Lead Practitioners were provided with capacity funding to facilitate joint practice 
development networks in support of priority qualifications improvements.


It was recognised that further refinements and improvements were required during 2017-2018 to 
increase the effectiveness of Hubs.  Many of the professional learning programmes followed an 
inquiry-led approach. This was in recognition of schools’ need to align professional learning with their 
improvement priorities and to provide greater opportunities to evidence the impact of the 
professional learning activity.  

Tudalen 89



20

Schools continued with their Hub status from 2016-17 into 2017-18 with exception of a few schools 
who voluntarily stepped down from the model.  Service level agreements were strengthened this year 
to increase the accountability of Hub schools for the delivery of professional learning programmes and 
their role within the school-led self-improving system. 

School improvement plans from across the region were analysed and national priorities considered, 
to ensure that all programmes align with national and regional needs.   Hub programmes were co-
constructed with strategic advisers to align provision to regional and national needs.  Programme 
session visits were arranged by strategic advisers as part of the evaluation of effectiveness of the offer.  
Programme highlight reports were completed to monitor activity. 

What evidence of impact do we have? 

In 2017-18:

• over 20% of CSC schools feature as part of the model to build capacity and provide support to 
others 

• 1072 practitioners attended a professional learning programme run by a Hub school.
• At least one practitioner from 73% of schools in the region have engaged with a Hub 

professional learning programme.  A continuing positive trend since the inception of the 
model

• Over 183 days of direct, in-school support was facilitated by Hub schools

Across the 3 years of the Hub model there has been a 100% increase in the number of practitioners 
attending collaborative events. 

Refinements to the model in 2017-18 have increased the focus on joint practice development and 
inquiry-led activity.  As more practitioners participate in programmes of joint practice development, 
the evidence of the effectiveness of this approach increases.  Practitioner feedback following sessions 
demonstrate the value they place in working collaboratively with other schools to develop their 
practice.

Evaluation of the work identified that:

 nearly all practitioners reported that the actions they had undertaken as a result of the 
programme had impacted on standards and pupil outcomes

 nearly all practitioners reported that the programme had impacted positively on their own 
teaching practice

 nearly all practitioners attending leadership programmes facilitated by professional learning 
hubs reported that it had impacted positively on their leadership skills

 around a half of practitioners reported having undertaken activity to build in school capacity

Feedback from practitioner session evaluations welcomed the opportunity to work collaboratively to 
develop their practice in support of identified priorities.  

Extended opportunities for networks of practitioners to develop practice over a period of time and 
enhance school-to-school working is a strong feature of the hub model. 

Tudalen 90



21

For example, feedback received from one hub :- 

“It has been rewarding for all of our staff involved in the Hub programme to see 
strategies that have been developed within our own school for all areas of literacy, 
having an impact upon standards and provision in other schools.  The programme has 
given us an invaluable opportunity to build capacity within our own school through the 
involvement of a range of staff in the activities offered to practitioners through the 
programme thus developing their own CPD.  The feedback from practitioners has been 
very positive and hopefully it will be used to continue to develop the programme in the 
future.“

Next steps

 There is a need to take a longer-term view of the Hub model and its impact
 A review of the funding methodology for the Hub programme should be undertaken and 

consideration given to the removal of the expectation that all Hubs provide support for red 
and amber schools

 Savings realised could be used to broker effective support from across the region rather than 
from reducing the number of Hub schools

 The model will need to be refined further to accommodate emerging priorities in support of 
curriculum reform

4.4 Peer Enquiry

Background and Objectives

As part of the Central South Wales Challenge schools are encouraged to undertake peer enquiries with 
other schools within the region. The model is offered to all green, yellow and amber schools. It is an 
increasingly reciprocal, less centrally reliant and therefore increasingly sustainable model.  Peer 
enquiries can be whole school, or focused on a pre-agreed theme e.g. eFSM provision and outcomes 
and PDG spend

What have we done this year?

The consortium has continued to facilitate and broker peer enquiry for schools that want to undertake 
it. The consortium plays an enabling / brokerage role both through funding the lead enquirer and 
through matching a commissioning host school with a lead enquirer.  The matching of lead and host 
headteachers is approved by senior challenge advisers.  The peer enquiry team consists of a lead 
Headteacher, a second supporting Headteacher and a third senior school leader (typically the deputy 
of the lead headteacher). Challenge advisers have played a more active role since the end of 2017 in 
advising host headteachers to commission an enquiry as part of their self-evaluation processes

The Peer Enquiry process has been further refined and developed for 2017 - 2018 to ensure it has a 
greater potential impact on school improvement. The following are the key developments: 

 Challenge advisers are increasingly playing a role in encouraging headteachers to commission 
peer enquiries. 

 Peer enquiry reports are shared with the host school’s challenge adviser and governing body.
 The further lines of enquiry generated at the end of the process are linked directly to school 

Tudalen 91



22

improvement with an action plan being agreed between the lead enquirer and host 
headteacher

 There is a stronger expectation that the impetus to provide evidence of the impact of the 
enquiry will come from the host Headteacher at a follow up visit

 The lead enquirer can choose their own team to build on the strength of existing partnerships
 Documentation tested during training is shared as a consistent toolkit with all stakeholders
 A professional learning survey is sent to all enquiry team members which has enabled us to 

trace evidence of impact on professional development

Peer enquiries are led by headteachers who have received centrally delivered training by the Associate 
Headteacher leading on peer enquiry who is also the QA lead in checking all enquiry reports before 
they are shared with the host school.  Documentation is consistent and evaluations of the impact of 
the process take place on several levels including interviews with and focus groups of stakeholders 
along with analysis of school Self Evaluation Reports (SER) and School Improvement Plans (SIPS) and 
Key Performance Indicators (KPI) linked to further lines of enquiry.

Peer enquiry reports are focused on school improvement through a small number of specific further 
lines of enquiry that are related to school improvement.  The collaborative nature of the model, along 
with the increasingly reciprocal funding plan demonstrates efficiency that includes capacity building 
of leadership professional learning.

Barriers to success this year
Despite its refinements and past efficacy in making an impact on school improvement and leadership 
professional development, peer enquiry failed to meet its target in terms of the number of 
commissioned enquiries for the year 2017 – 2018.  Instead of an anticipated 30 enquiries based on 
the data for 2016 – 2017 (which saw 33 enquiries take place and schools being placed on a reserve list 
for the next year), only 11 actually took place.

A further 18 peer enquiries were actually commissioned in 2017 - 2018, but these all failed to take 
place due to:

- Headteachers cancelling due to other pressures such as Estyn visits or other scrutinies
- Schools deferring to later in the year including the Summer Term of 2018 (and therefore the 

new financial year)
- Headteachers withdrawing for reasons relating to personnel and HR

There is some additional evidence to suggest that peer enquiries may not have taken place or been 
commissioned as a result of reduced central funding (only the lead enquirer now funded), two 
extended and unavoidable absences of the strategic lead for peer enquiry (who would have chased 
schools who deferred or cancelled) or the advice of challenge advisers.  This does suggest that the role 
of the consortium in promoting, supporting, brokering and funding peer enquiries is still an important 
one.  Initially it had been thought that the model was mature enough to ‘float’ out to schools to 
manage themselves, but 2017 – 2018 does not support this idea.

What evidence of impact do we have? 

 Peer enquiries build leadership capacity and focus on school improvement through credible, 
rigorous discussions with all school stakeholders

 All members of the peer enquiry team plus the host school SLT benefit from sharing and effective 
practice

 New networks of school partnerships are generated as peer enquiry teams are brokered from a 
different LA to the host school wherever possible

Tudalen 92



23

Collaborative advantage from partnerships is evidenced where schools report impact in terms of 
capacity building and leadership:

 Senior leaders and headteachers becoming part of enquiry teams are all been trained in data 
analysis, interview techniques, observation protocols and school self-evaluation as well as the 
lead being trained to coach/mentor host headteachers.  Members of enquiry teams report 
feeling more confident about leading enquiries and analysing school processes.

I am a better school leader for having led, supported and hosted peer enquiry

We’ve learned so much, ‘how to reduce workload’, sharing good practice

 The enquiry team and the host school SLT work in close collaboration throughout the process 
resulting in high calibre discussions about effective practice and two-way sharing of ideas and 
systems.    The nature of the dialogue between experienced, credible school leaders is of 
immense value to all participants.  In the context of trust and openness - and without 
judgement - any school SLT must benefit from having fresh eyes looking at the school.  

 Peer enquiry offers specific lines of enquiry linked to school improvement and an action plan 
so that the host school has an immediate starting point for improvement. The very act of 
deciding those lines of enquiry also builds the professional skills of the enquiry team

 All the way along there was this dialogue-it was very positive it was very challenging-it 
certainly wasn't light touch

 All senior leaders involved in the process focus their attention on school improvements and 
this contributes to the development and strengthening of a school-led self-improving system.

 The people who undertake the enquiry have credibility straight away. They are doing the job 
and hopefully will have a track record in securing improvement. 

 The enquiry gives concrete suggestions and practical ideas. It is not just identifying strengths 
and weaknesses like an inspection. There is also likely to be an ongoing dialogue and contacts 
built. I have taken part in three peer enquiries and have made valuable links that continue.

In line with added value, peer enquiries demonstrate impact and proxy indicators of impact on a 
number of strategies introduced as a result of serving headteachers and senior leaders working in 
partnership with host schools. For example:
 

 Just over 50% of all schools in the region have engaged with the peer enquiry model to date 
since 2015*.

 Between 2015 – 2018, 77% of all primary schools who have hosted a peer enquiry improved 
their categorisation, compared to a regional average of 57.4% for all other primary schools. 
83.3% of secondary schools who had hosted a peer enquiry improved their categorisation 
compared with a regional average of 64.7% for all other secondary schools.

 Even if this is a proxy indicator, it still represents a significant increase on the regional average.  
When we look at Key Performance indicators, in primary, 81% of those schools had improved 
their key stage 2 core subject indicators against a regional average improvement of 60.5%. 
When we look at Key Performance indicators, in secondary, 82% of those schools had 
improved their key stage 4 level 2 plus against a regional average of 70%. 

 Action plans focusing on school improvement are reflected in school SER documentation with 
quantitative and qualitative targets attached to expected outcomes

 Some challenge advisers conduct reflective conversations with host headteachers upon 
receipt of the report and Evaluation Framework improvement (EFI) reflect the robust 
specificity of those conversations 

Tudalen 93



24

 Many participating headteachers and senior school leaders describe the process as being 
excellent for professional development and for networking / collaboration. Leaders have 
gained a wider perspective of how other schools are run and speak of increased confidence 
to make changes in their own practice.  We have evidence from focus groups, surveys and 
interviews with senior school leaders to support this.

*The overall percentage of schools engaged in the peer enquiry process is cited here from its inception 
in 2015.  Engagement of schools/headteachers/senior school leaders is much lower for the year 2017 
– 2018.  

For example, a school has been involved in hosting a ‘Peer Enquiry’, whereby the school was scrutinised 
by head teachers and SLT member from other green schools. This has been used to inform self 
evaluation and future improvement planning.  The Peer Enquiry team confirmed the areas highlighted 
by the school as good or excellent practice and drew our attention to areas for improvement that will 
be incorporated into our school improvement plan

Next steps

 There is no doubt (based on both quantitative and qualitative evidence) that, where entered 
into with honesty and commitment, peer enquiries have had a significant impact on the 
collaboration of school leadership teams, on the specificity of ‘SMART’ targets aimed at school 
improvement and on the professional learning of all stakeholders including senior leaders 
aspiring to headship.

 The decision to move towards a reciprocal model at this stage, organised by schools 
themselves, was perhaps too ambitious.  Once funding dwindled to supporting the work of 
the lead enquirer only, there was a noticeable reduction in the number of schools 
commissioning enquires during 2017 – 2018.  While only 11 peer enquiries actually took place 
this year, a further 18 were cancelled or postponed.  This suggests that the peer enquiry model 
was not mature enough to be managed without a degree of funding and much stronger and 
consistent brokerage and support by various consortium stakeholders.  Please see ‘Barriers to 
Success’ for an exploration of reasons for this.

 Welsh Government is currently working with regions to develop peer involvement in school 
improvement as part of the draft evaluation and improvement arrangements announced in 
February 2019. As part of this work, a CSC Peer Evaluation and Improvement Working Group 
of 8 headteachers is researching current models in order to develop a regional peer review 
pilot model. These models include versions currently being adopted by EAS, Cyfleoedd+ (5 CSC 
Welsh Medium Secondary Schools), CSC Special Schools Network and London / Bristol 
Academies. In these models, headteachers take on the role of working with each other to 
strengthen school self-evaluation and contribute to the sharpening (identification of support 
requirements) of support/actions.  In line with this development, the CSC peer enquiry model 
as it stands will cease offering any funding from the end of March 2019.

 Schools can still commission peer enquiries as a separate activity to a peer review in future 
and will have access to the documentation.

4.5 Closing the Gap (CTG)

Background and Objectives

This is one of the main priorities in the CSC Business Plan where the aims are to:-

 Close the gap for eFSM learners in all subject areas

Tudalen 94



25

 To improve school use of the Pupil Development Grant (PDG) 
 To facilitate and signpost targeted school-to-school support and access to dedicated 

professional learning in the area of CTG

What have we done this year? 

Our overall approach to CTG has been to ensure the work of other strands i.e.  Challenge Advisers, 
SIGs, Hubs and Pathfinder partnerships all make a contribution to CTG. 

We have established Closing the Gap (CTG) Hubs within schools who have a proven track record of 
supporting the most vulnerable learners by evidencing accelerated progress. CSC currently supports 
two CTG Hubs (one primary and one secondary), who have been commissioned to work collaboratively 
with schools.   The CTG Hubs will be expected to undertake the following: 

 Facilitate a CTG programme which promotes strategies that close the gap in order to build 
capacity across the system 

 Share best practices and strategies that has impact on the progress of eFSM children and other 
vulnerable learners

 Use the Efficiency and Evaluation Framework (EEF) toolkit to create a range of workshops for 
school staff, that will have impact not just on eFSM pupild, but also on the wider school culture

 Source, create and deliver a coaching-based programme that targets key stage 3 and 4 pupils 
to raise aspirations, develop self-esteem and improve life skills of those pupild made more 
vulnerable due to poverty, thereby ensuring that leaners are more prepared for exams in key 
stage 4 

 Source a range of whole school training so that the alliance has a common vision, shared 
values and employs approaches that impact on the progress of all learners but particularly 
those eligible for free school meals

 Ensure all schools have a strategic PDG spending plan which aims to raise the attainment of 
all pupils challenge the gap between those eligible for free school meals and those who are 
not

 Ensure Challenge Advisers, in their work with vulnerable schools, are able to effectively 
challenge and support schools to create effective PDG spending plans, with specific 
consideration of clear impact measures

 Expect all schools to identify a member of senior staff with accountability for their school 
progress in raising the attainment for eFSM learners

In addition to the work of CTG Hubs we have also done the following:

 Challenge Advisers have monitored, supported and reported on schools’ PDG spending 
provided general support for CTG

 Appointed delegate headteachers to work on implementation of CTG strands. 
 Supported primary and secondary eFSM networks
 Funded the secondary CTG hubs as lead practitioners to provide additional support to 

red/amber schools 

What evidence of impact do we have? 

The CTG Hubs offer a range of programmes across the region and have been well attended and the 
end of course evaluations demonstrate impact in the schools of participants.   Success of the 

Tudalen 95



26

programme was evident in presentations delivered by delegates during the day of the course.   All 
delegates who attended the course have implemented strategies and are now in a position to develop 
the programme across their schools.  

There have been four meetings of the eFSM network at which delegates were provided with advice 
and support in relation to effective PDG spending and examples of good practice. 

For the previous three years CSC has closed the gap at a higher rate than the national average. 

‘There has been improvement in the performance of eFSM pupils since 2012, albeit from a low 
baseline.  The gaps in performance have narrowed in each of the four key stages, with foundation 
phase having the narrowest gap and key stage 3 evidencing the greatest reduction in the gap since 
2012.  For every key stage, the performance of eFSM pupils has improved at a faster rate than non 
eFSM pupils at the expected level, and for most performance measures at key stage 4(*). In the 
Foundation Phase, the gap has narrowed to 12.6 pp in 2017 (a reduction from 19.5pp in 2012), whilst 
in key stage 2 the core subject indicator (CSI) gap has closed to 13.8pp (from 20.6pp in 2012).  
However, in the most recent academic year at key stage 3, the gap widened slightly to 20.8pp.’ 
(2017/18 Highlight Report: Quarter 3)

There will now no longer be CTG focused hubs however, CSC will implement a Hub and Lead 
Practitioner model with high quality teaching and learning to be a focus of all of the hubs.

Next Steps

The CTG strategy going forward will need to be more contextualized and research-informed in order 
to identify approaches that meet the needs of schools at different points in their improvement 
journeys.  This has already started with the development of case studies that helps schools at different 
points to consider what needs to be their next practice.  

CSC will also look at developing the following:-

 Ensure challenge advisors continue to focus on the progress of FSM learners.
 Bring clarity and consistency to the consortium and schools use of planning, evaluation and 

use of data around FSM learners.
 Daniel Sobel to work with a secondary school in each local authority on lowering exclusions 

and raising attendance for vulnerable pupils. 
 To showcase effective practice in schools and highlight successful intervention.
 To work with the literacy and numeracy teams to improve FSM performance in these areas.
 To develop schools as learning organisations linked to FSM and effective PDG spending.
 To ensure that the progress of vulnerable learners is at the heart of all school improvement 

priorities. 

Tudalen 96



27

4.6 Challenge Advisers (CAs)

Background and Objectives

Our shared objective, developed in partnership with local authorities and schools in the region, is to 
continue to transform educational outcomes through improving leadership and teaching and through 
eradicating the impact of poverty on educational outcomes. 

We are doing this by building the capacity of schools to be self-improving. We are developing a culture 
that embraces innovation and enables teachers and leaders to work together to improve practice in 
ways that are informed by research and have a positive impact on pupils’ achievement and progress. 

Our vision is to enable schools themselves to lead this work by increasingly delegating the 
responsibility and resources backed by a robust system of accountability. We believe that this is vital 
in order to secure sustainable long-term improvement in the achievement of all children and young 
people in the region.

A review of the working practices for CAs has resulted in a greater number of CA visits to all our 
schools, CAs continue to be deployed in geographical clusters where possible.   More partner 
headteachers are now working in the service, this ensures our practice is current and relevant and 
ensures current school knowledge and practice is built into our service delivery. Also, partner 
headteachers are building capacity within the system, delivering the model and practice to schools 
and Headteacher within their own school cluster. The over-arching principle of CSC is to build in-school 
capacity which is both sustainable and efficient.

Challenge Advisers provide challenge and support to each school in the region (with more time 
allocated to the schools most in need) and provide data analyses to support schools’ self-evaluation 
and improvement planning 

What have we done this year?

Challenge advisers have been required to challenge and support schools across the region either to 
sustain high outcomes or to improve outcomes for all their learners.   Consequently, this has been the 
driving objective underpinning all visits to all school regardless of their categorisation colour.  A range 
of school improvement tools have been used by challenge advisers to monitor and evaluate 
performance of all learners, namely:

 Scrutiny of the school’s SER and SDP
 Book looks
 Listening to learners
 Learning walks
 Meetings with senior leaders

CAs play a key role in helping schools achieve improved outcomes for learners and in building capacity 
within a self-improving school system. CAs work mainly in one local authority and are assigned to a 
number of schools but work in partnership with colleagues in a cluster. 

The amount of time a CA spends at each school is determined by the support category in which the 
school is placed as a result of national categorisation. The CA facilitates the categorisation process for 
each school to which he/she is attached and is responsible for writing the national categorisation 
report. 

Tudalen 97



28

CAs support governors in the performance management of headteachers and in the recruitment of 
senior posts. Support for schools is largely provided by other schools and the challenge advisers play 
a key role in brokering the school-to-school support.

 Review, challenge and support meeting with headteacher and governors to identify category
 Authenticate priorities for improvement
 Review headteacher’s performance objectives and agree objectives for 17/18 
 Broker additional support and implement as part of school improvement plan
 monitor progress against agreed priorities in school improvement plan 
 Review progress against headteacher’s performance objectives 
 Review progress of all learners
 Agree pupil level targets
 Agree plans for grant spend

What evidence of impact do we have? 

 Overall inspection outcomes have improved
 Reduction in need for support 
 Increase in green category schools

The table below summarises the movement of schools between categories in the last year: 

No of Schools Support Movement
4 Red 2 schools have been red for 2 consecutive years
9 amber increase of 3 schools on previous year
2 red moved from amber to red
5 Amber moved from yellow to amber
3 Yellow moved from green to yellow
6 Green moved from yellow to green

2 Yellow moved from amber to yellow
1 amber moved from red to amber

Working closely with LAs we have improved our processes for identifying schools who have received 
appropriate support but progress remains poor. Termly discussions are part of LA performance 
meetings about LA statutory powers being used in red and amber schools. 

For example, a school was placed in the red support category in Autumn 2016 following significant 
underperformance.  A new Headteacher was appointed who worked relentlessly to bring about the 
improvements required but the strategic abilities of the senior and middle leaders remained a barrier. 
In addition, there were HR issues and concerns around governance.   A new school improvement plan 
was drafted which reflected the school’s position and identified appropriate priorities for 
improvement.  From this, a support package was identified and additional support brokered.     The 
impact of support was monitored regularly by the challenge adviser and senior challenge adviser and 
amended if necessary.  The consultant governor was changed mid-year and one of the senior leaders 
resigned after a long period of absence enabling the appointment of a temporary assistant 

Tudalen 98



29

Headteacher.   In 2017-2018, sufficient progress had been made in a few key areas and the school was 
categorised as amber.  By the end of the academic year, progress was strong or very good in all 
improvement priorities and there was confidence that the school no longer required additional 
support or regular progress meetings, so the school was provisionally categorised as yellow for 2018-
2019.  The school was inspected by Estyn in October 2018 and was judged as good in all inspection 
areas.  

Next steps

Senior Challenges advisers undertook a strategic review of the work programmes for all challenges 
advisers during July and August 2018.  The result of the review means the way challenge advisers work 
with schools in academic year 2018-19 will no longer be predominantly driven by written paperwork.  
Instead, challenge advisers will be more agile, allowing them to spend more time in schools gathering 
first-hand evidence and producing brief evaluative reports.  To this end, the programme of challenge 
adviser visits will be more frequent albeit with shorter timings.  However, there is flexibility to extend 
and increase timings if the need arises.  Therefore, green and yellow schools, will have two visits each 
half term, amber schools will have one visit per fortnight and red schools, which are the most 
vulnerable, will have one visit per week

5.0 CONCLUSIONS

The Consortium evaluates financial performance through a self-evaluation report that forms the basis 
for business planning.   Regular reports are prepared for the Directors, Advisory Board and Joint 
Committee on the performance of the organisation.  Also through the LA progress meetings and the 
management dashboard for performance and termly Welsh Government ministerial challenge and 
review events.

Scrutiny and Challenge is undertaken by the Directors of Education who meet on a monthly basis to 
challenge performance and to agree strategy and have an opportunity to challenge findings.  A report 
to the treasurer is a standard item on the agenda for the Joint Committee meeting.

Despite the reduced funding, there were further improvements in many key performance indicators 
across schools in the region during 2017-2018 building on those of the previous few years.  The 
continued improvements mean that standards have improved again in the main measures for every 
key stage, where current data is comparable with previous years, at regional level in 2017-2018. In 
addition, for these same key stages, performance at regional level continues to exceed the national 
average at the expected level for all performance indicators. Also, performance at the above-expected 
level exceeds the national average for all performance measures at KS2 and KS3, and the only 
exceptions being FP LCW O6+, FP PSD O6+, KS3 Cym 7+. 

The gap in attainment for pupils eligible for free school meals and those not eligible for free school 
meals has narrowed again for the main performance measure at Key Stage 2 for 2017/18 performance 
data. The gap has also narrowed for the main performance measures at KS3. However, the gap in 
performance is still too high.

Tudalen 99



30

In addition, funding for 2017/2018 reduced by 5% from the previous year level, with the region seeing 
an increase in pupil numbers of 525 pupils, thereby reducing the spend per pupil while maintaining 
improvements in standards. 

2014 - 2015 2015 – 2016 2016 - 2017 2017 - 2018

LA Contributions £4,416,486 £4,416,486 £4,195,662 £3,985,879

Pupil Numbers 144,706 145,574 146,711 147,236

Spend per pupil £30.52 £30.34 £28.60 £27.07

The vision for a school led self-improving system has meant that delegation rates to schools for grant 
funded activity has continued to increase from a rate of 94.4% in 2016/2017 to 95.6% in 2017/18 – 
achieved through the continuation of effective deployment of the formerly named Education 
Improvement Grant (EIG).  

Tudalen 100



31

During 2017 - 2018, there continued to be some cross subsidisation between the five authorities. 
Monetary benefits of regional working were achieved by Bridgend and Vale of Glamorgan (compared 
with Merthyr, RCT and Vale of Glamorgan in 2016/2017, Merthyr and RCT in 2015/2016 and Cardiff 
and Merthyr in 2014/2015) specifically but the additional benefits of working regionally can also be 
seen in the impact on both standards and outcomes across the region.

Combining resources to provide a single service across the region allowing for economies of scale to 
be realised as well as a consistent service to schools and allows for a more flexible deployment of staff 
to respond to crisis situation as they arise.  Also recognising the importance of providing CPD 
opportunities and supporting succession planning within the region.  Central South Consortium is able 
to take advantage of the additional services provided through the host authority through the 
establishment of SLA agreements. The over-arching principle of CSC is to build school capacity which 
is both sustainable and efficient.

A small team is held centrally to facilitate improvement and change in a sustainable way.  Over time 
both the strategic team and challenge adviser team has been reduced significantly.   Differentiated 
support according to need (Challenge & Support Framework) allows for an agile workforce with the 
ability to work intensively where needs are identified.  This has also included a move away from 
consultant challenge advisers to Partner Headteachers representing greater value for money.

Academic research from best practice in large collaborative structures consistently report that a 
central resource to shape and guide cooperation is key.  Its success however is dependent on being 
accessible, to be delegated or wield influence and make decisions.  The governance structure at CSC 
allows the central team to gain support from Directors prior to action, with the governance of regional 
consortia being currently under review both nationally and locally.  In addition, CSC is consulting with 
Directors and strategy group members, on how headteachers can become further involved in the 
governance of an increasingly maturing school-led system.

Central South Consortium has the confidence to change the way of working in order to maximise the 
impact of resources.  Examples of this include a full review and change to the Hub programme and the 
networks used to deliver key messages and support. The Peer Enquiry programme is continually 
reviewed and refined to ensure regional need is being addressed.  In addition, a review of the working 
practices for challenge advisers (CAs) has resulted in a greater number of CA visits to all our schools, 
activities to monitor standards e.g. book looks and learning walks happen as part of each visit, CAs 
continue to be deployed in geographical clusters where possible.   More partner headteachers are 
now working in the service, this ensures our practice is current and relevant and ensure current school 
knowledge and practice is built into our service delivery. Also, partner headteachers are building 
capacity within the system, delivering the model and practice to schools and Headteacher within their 
own school cluster. 

The process for allocating additional resources has been further improved during 2017/18 within the 
Resource Board.  The Senior Leadership Team review all requests and this has ensured a more, clear, 
transparent and fair approach to enable CSC to deliver a focused timely bespoke support to schools in 
need to improvement. 

Tudalen 101



32

The centralisation of the governor support programme and the employment of CSC governor training 
officers during 2017 has improved the consistency and quality of support to governing bodies.  An 
annual training and support programme is now available for all governors across the region with 
dedicated training officers aligned to each local authority.

Key infrastructure developments have improved access to IT resources and allowed staff to work 
remotely effectively and efficiently.  There is further work to do to improve cloud access and wireless 
connectivity across the region, but improvements to date have been welcomed by staff and schools.

Evaluations of ongoing work are reported to key groups (including Advisory Board) within the 
governance structure of CSC as part of the work of the Research and Evaluation Board.  This enables 
CSC is able to respond quickly to any identified concerns with service delivery, and ensures effective 
self-evaluation processes are in place.  

Through the improved self-evaluation processes and the increased capacity provided by the research 
and evaluation board, evidence of impact and value for money can be identified in the following areas:

 Raised standards in literacy / English / Welsh, numeracy and mathematics at almost all phases
 Improved outcomes for eFSM pupils (with a closing of the gap at most phases)
 Overall improvement in school categorisation profiles
 Increased engagement in professional learning across career phases

The annual survey conducted in November 2018 will seek to provide evidence of the following:

 Increased pupil satisfaction with curriculum offer and expectations;
 Sustained widespread engagement in collaborative joint practice development and inquiry; based 

approaches to meet the demands of Donaldson;
 Improvement in teachers’ classroom practice, morale and self-efficacy; and
 Improved leadership (of learning) at all levels.

However, further work is required to provide evidence of impact for the following:

 Improved outcomes from specific groups of pupils including More-able and Talented (MAT) and 
Children Looked After (CLA)

 The further development of sufficient school and system leadership capacity to enable 
development of a practitioner led Central South Consortium; and

 The further review of the governance of the organisation to provide opportunities for head 
teachers to be involved in the formal governance arrangements of CSC

A comprehensive analysis of resources provided to schools in individual local authorities identifies a 
cross subsidisation of core funding.  Core funds are directed to schools in inverse proportion to need 
across the region.  However, when consideration is taken of all delegated resources, local authorities 
receive between -1.24pp and +0.89pp when compared to the percentage of funding they contribute 
to the overall core budget.  Schools requiring additional resource due to being categorised as requiring 
red and amber support are balanced by additional funding provided to build capacity and promote 
school-to-school working.

Tudalen 102



33

Finally, having identified improvements in performance across a range of indicators and the continuing 
improvements over a number of years, Central South Consortium is confident in the assertion that 
value for money can be demonstrated across a wide range of activity.

6.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

Priority Drive Teams identified within the business plan (2018-19) should continue to produce detailed 
costed plans for funding detailing the overall purpose of the initiative as well as identifying the risks, 
outcomes measures and means of verification to ensure an ongoing focus upon value for money.  The 
impact reports can then inform future strategy development.

Consideration given to the processes for capturing value for money within the monitoring dashboard 
for both areas identified for strand evaluation in 2018/19 as well as the impact of the business plan.

Progress has been made to ensure when additional funding / resource is provided to schools in need 
that expected outcomes are identified to ensure good value for money at the planning stages.  This is 
achieved by the development of the school support plan.  Further refinement is required however on 
the effective brokering of the support for schools from the available Central South Wales Strategy 
models.

Critically evaluate the impact of all CSWC strategies to ascertain maximum impact.  This will include 
the development of online evaluation processes to inform strategic planning and ensure reporting is 
more focused on impact.  It would then be possible to monitor aims and objectives over time and 
provide evidence of impact in the school providing support as well as the schools / individuals receiving 
support.

Explore other types of peer enquiry models, building upon the success of the current peer enquiry 
model.  This may involve specific enquiries based on different sectors, such as the Special School 
Sector or Welsh Medium Sector as well as the exploration of thematic peer enquiries.

Strand evaluations for 2018/19 should continue for all areas.

Tudalen 103



34

APPENDIX A   

1.0 CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM (OUTCOMES)*

In order to ascertain where CSC provided value for money in 2017 – 2018, an analysis of standards 
across the regions as well as by local authorities within CSC has been produced.

Analysis will include all key stages (including key stage 5) as well as comparisons between eFSM and 
non eFSM.

*Prior to 2018, the National and Regional figures included in this report for FP, KS2, KS3 and KS4 have 
been sourced from Welsh Government. Please note that the data for Wales includes the results for 
pupils identified as from a Non-English/Welsh Based Education System in schools within each LA, 
alongside any Independent schools that submit their results. However, the data for the Local 
Authorities and Regional Consortia excludes pupils who are from a Non-English/Welsh Based 
Education System and are for maintained schools only. 

2018 data for FP-KS3 is no longer published below National level, so the 2018 data included in this 
report has not been able to be externally verified. 

In addition, the eFSM/nFSM is from CSC matched data sources, and may differ from that produced 
historically due to lower matching rates attainable for the Region.

Please note that due to revisions to the Foundation Phase Areas of Learning (AOL) for LLC and MDT 
in October 2014, which aligned them against the LNF and also made them more demanding, 
comparisons with previous years should be treated with caution, as they are not measured on a 
comparable basis.

1.1 FOUNDATION PHASE OUTCOMES

ImprovementFoundation 
Phase 
Outcome 5 2015 2016 2017 2018 16 17 18

Overall 
Improvement 
for 3 years

LLC-E 88.7 (88) 89.4 (88) 89.3 (88.1) 85.9 (84) 0.7 -0.1 -3.4 -2.8
LLC-W 94 (91.3) 93.9 (90.7) 93 (90.9) 89.2 (86.1) -0.1 -0.9 -3.8 -4.8
MDT 90.2 (89.7) 91.1 (89.9) 91.5 (90.3) 88 (86.6) 0.9 0.4 -3.6 -2.3
PSD 94.7 (94.8) 94.9 (94.5) 95.1 (94.7) 93.9 (93.4) 0.3 0.1 -1.2 -0.8
FPOI 87.6 (86.8) 88.6 (87) 88.6 (87.3) 84.7 (82.6) 1.0 0.0 -3.9 -2.9

ImprovementFoundation 
Phase 
Outcome 6

2015 2016 2017 2018 16 17 18

Overall 
Improvement 
for 3 years

LLC-E 33.8 (34.2) 36.2 (36.2) 39.2 (38.1) 34.4 (33.5) 2.4 2.9 -4.7 0.6
LLC-W 37.9 (36.9) 40.1 (36.2) 40.8 (38.1) 32.6 (33.2) 2.2 0.7 -8.2 -5.3
MDT 34.4 (34.3) 37.2 (36.4) 40.7 (38.7) 34.7 (33.9) 2.8 3.4 -5.9 0.3
PSD 52.5 (56) 57.6 (58.9) 60.9 (61.3) 58.5 (59.4) 5.0 3.4 -2.4 6.0

Tudalen 104



35

 At the expected level, all performance measures are above the National average for 2018 
results. All of the performance indicators in the Foundation Phase have fallen in the most 
recent year but, as stated above, comparisons against previous years should be treated with 
caution. 

 At the above expected level, the consortium exceeds the National average for LCE and MDT, 
but is below the National average for LCW and PSD. Despite the revisions to the AOLs, as 
detailed above, improvements since 2015 can be seen for LCE, MDT and PSD. 

Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator

The Foundation Phase Indicator (FPOI) has fallen to its’ lowest position over the last three- year period, 
but the decrease seen for Central South Consortium is smaller than that seen nationally for this 
performance measure for the most recent year and also over the last three-year period. All five LAs in 
the Region saw decreases for this performance measure in the 2018, with only RCT seeing a decrease 
larger than that seen nationally, which has resulted in the LA continuing to be below the National 
average for this performance measure.

Tudalen 105



36

Year
Bridgend VoG RCT Merthyr Cardiff CSC Wales

2015 88.8 91.5 86.3 86.2 86.7 87.6 86.8
2016 87.1 91.2 87.2 89.1 88.9 88.6 87.0
2017 89.1 91.4 86.9 88.1 88.5 88.6 87.3
2018 86.3 87.5 81.3 85.5 85.2 84.7 82.6
Change 15 to 16 -1.7 -0.3 0.9 2.9 2.2 1.0 0.2
Change 16 to 17 1.9 0.2 -0.2 -0.9 -0.5 0.0 0.3
Change 17 to 18 -2.8 -3.9 -5.7 -2.6 -3.3 -3.9 -4.7
Change 15 to 18 -2.6 -4.0 -5.0 -0.7 -1.6 -2.9 -4.2

1.2 KEY STAGE 2

Improvement
Key stage 2 
L4+ 2015 2016 2017 2018 16 17 18

Overall 
Improvement 
for 3 years

English 89.8 (89.6) 91 (90.3) 91.5 (91.1) 91.6 (91.1) 1.1 0.5 0.1 1.8
Cymraeg 93.6 (90.5) 95.1 (90.8) 94.1 (91.6) 93.6 (89.7) 1.5 -1.0 -0.5 0.0
Mathematics 90.2 (90.2) 91.7 (91) 92.2 (91.6) 92.5 (91.8) 1.4 0.5 0.4 2.3
Science 91.1 (91.4) 92.1 (91.7) 92.4 (92.2) 92.4 (92.1) 1.0 0.3 0.0 1.3
CSI 87.8 (87.7) 89.5 (88.6) 90.2 (89.5) 90.3 (89.5) 1.6 0.8 0.1 2.4

ImprovementKey stage 2 
L5+

2015 2016 2017 2018 16 17 18

Overall 
Improvement 
for 3 years

English 40.7 (40.8) 43.3 (42) 46.7 (44.7) 48.2 (45.9) 2.5 3.4 1.5 7.4
Cymraeg 42 (38) 44.5 (38) 47.1 (41.5) 45.1 (40.4) 2.4 2.7 -2.0 3.1
Mathematics 42.2 (41.3) 44.7 (43.2) 48.9 (47) 50.1 (47.8) 2.5 4.2 1.2 7.9
Science 40.6 (41.1) 43.5 (42.5) 47.9 (46.4) 48.1 (46.5) 2.9 4.4 0.2 7.5

 In all performance measures at Key Stage 2, CSC continues to perform above the national 
average at both the expected level and above the expected level. This includes all aspects of 
English and Welsh.

Core Subject Indicator

 There has been further improvement in the CSI for CSC during the latest academic year. Two 
of the five LAs have improved, with Bridgend, RCT and Merthyr Tydfil decreasing by 1.0pp, 
0.8pp and 2.0pp respectively. 

Tudalen 106



37

 The rate of improvement in the consortium since 2015 at 2.4pp is greater than that seen 
across Wales (1.8pp).

Year Bridgend VoG RCT Merthyr Cardiff CSC Wales
2014 86.2 90.5 84.3 84.2 85.1 85.8 86.1
2015 87.6 92.1 85.8 87.4 87.8 87.8 87.7
2016 87.9 92.7 88.5 89.2 89.5 89.5 88.6
2017 89.4 93.5 90.0 90.2 89.4 90.2 89.5
Change 14 to 15 1.4 1.6 1.5 3.2 2.7 2.0 1.6
Change 15 to 16 0.4 0.6 2.7 1.8 1.8 1.6 0.9
Change 16 to 17 1.4 0.8 1.5 1.1 -0.2 0.8 0.9
Change 14 to 17 3.2 3.0 5.8 6.1 4.3 4.4 3.4

Tudalen 107



38

1.3 KEY STAGE 3

Improvement
Key Stage 3 
L5+ 2015 2016 2017 2018 16 17 18

Overall 
Improvement 
for 3 years

English 87.7 (87.9) 90 (89.2) 91.3 (90.5) 92 (91.2) 2.3 1.3 0.7 4.3
Cymraeg 92 (90.9) 92.6 (92) 94.7 (93.5) 94 (93.8) 0.6 2.0 -0.6 2.0
Mathematics 88.7 (88.7) 90.5 (90.1) 90.7 (90.8) 91.9 (91.6) 1.8 0.2 1.2 3.2
Science 91.6 (91.8) 93.3 (92.8) 94.1 (93.5) 93.8 (93.7) 1.8 0.8 -0.3 2.2
CSI 83.6 (83.9) 86.7 (85.9) 87.9 (87.4) 88.7 (88.1) 3.2 1.1 0.9 5.2

ImprovementKey Stage 3 
L6+

2015 2016 2017 2018 16 17 18

Overall 
Improvement 
for 3 years

English 53.4 (52.6) 58.2 (56.2) 60.7 (58.7) 64.1 (61.6) 4.8 2.6 3.3 10.7
Cymraeg 58.3 (56.2) 63.1 (57.2) 62.7 (62.9) 65.7 (63.8) 4.9 -0.4 3.0 7.4
Mathematics 59.6 (59.5) 64 (62.7) 66.4 (65.4) 67.5 (66.3) 4.4 2.4 1.0 7.9
Science 61.8 (58.6) 65.9 (62.9) 67.3 (65.5) 68.5 (67.1) 4.1 1.4 1.2 6.7

ImprovementKey Stage 3 
L7+

2015 2016 2017 2018 16 17 18

Overall 
Improvement 
for 3 years

English 17.3 (16.6) 18.7 (18.5) 21.8 (20.6) 25.1 (23.4) 1.4 3.1 3.2 7.8
Cymraeg 17.6 (17.4) 16.1 (18.3) 19.6 (19.7) 22 (22.5) -1.5 3.5 2.5 4.4
Mathematics 26.6 (26.3) 30.1 (28.6) 32.7 (30.7) 34.6 (32.7) 3.6 2.5 2.0 8.1
Science 22.2 (20.7) 25.2 (23.5) 27.5 (26.4) 28.8 (28) 3.0 2.3 1.3 6.6

 At the expected level, improvements have been made in three main performance measures again 
during the latest academic year, and all main performance measures are above the Wales average. 
The greatest improvement in the most recent academic year is seen in Mathematics (1.2pp) with 
the greatest improvement over the latest three-year period being made in CSI (5.2pp). 
Performance in both Cymraeg and Science fell over the most recent academic year by 0.6pp and 
0.3pp respectively.

 At level 6+, improvements of between 1.0pp and 3.3pp have been made in all four of the main 
measures, and all measure exceed the Wales average at level 6+. The greatest improvement in 
the most recent academic year (3.3pp) and over the latest three-year period (10.7pp) has been 
made in English.

 At level 7+, improvements have been made in all four performance indicators in the most recent 
academic year, with the greatest improvement seen in English (3.2pp). The greatest improvement 
over the latest three-year period is seen in mathematics (8.1pp). English, mathematics and science 
continue to be above the Wales average, with Cymraeg falling to 0.5pp below the Wales average.

Core Subject Indicator

Tudalen 108



39

 The CSI has improved year-on-year at the consortium level, with all LAs in the Region improving 
in the most recent year. The consortium continues to exceed the Wales average for this 
performance measure, and the gap in performance has widened this year as the consortium has 
improved at a faster rate than Wales.

 The range of improvement over the latest three-year period is from 6.3pp in RCT to 3.9pp in 
Cardiff. The improvement for the region over the same period is 5.2pp which compares favourably 
against the Wales improvement of 4.2pp.

Year
Bridgend VoG RCT Merthyr Cardiff CSC Wales

2015 84.3 87.4 81.6 81.9 83.4 83.6 83.9
2016 87.4 91.2 84.0 87.0 86.6 86.7 85.9
2017 89.0 91.8 87.4 87.1 86.2 87.9 87.4
2018 90.2 92.3 87.9 88.1 87.3 88.7 88.1
Change 15 to 16 3.1 3.8 2.4 5.1 3.2 3.2 2.0
Change 16 to 17 1.6 0.5 3.4 0.1 -0.4 1.1 1.5
Change 17 to 18 1.1 0.6 0.5 1.1 1.1 0.9 0.7
Change 15 to 18 5.9 4.9 6.3 6.2 3.9 5.2 4.2

Tudalen 109



40

1.4 KEY STAGE 4 

Please note: Welsh Government have introduced key changes to the performance measures data 
for reporting in 2016/17, which affects any possible comparisons that may be made against previous 
data. 

The main changes are:

1. the introduction of a cap of 40% on non-GCSEs that contribute to threshold measures;
2. the removal of literature from the literacy elements in the Capped 9 points score and the 

Level 2 Threshold including English/Welsh and Mathematics
3. the introduction of new specifications for English, Welsh 1st Language, Mathematics and 

Mathematics-Numeracy.
4. a new Capped 9 Points Score Measure.

In addition, changes were made to the qualifications that comprise the Science Level 2 performance 
measure, with the removal of non-GCSE qualifications from this measure.

Therefore, caution should be used when comparing 2016/17 and 2017/18 data with previous years’ 
data for the majority of performance indicators over the last two years.

Improvements
 2015 2016 2017 2018 16 17 18

Overall 
improvement

Level 1 94.5 (94.4) 95.4 (95.3) 94.3 (94.4) 94.5 (93.7) 0.9 -1.1 0.2 -0.1
Level 2 85 (84.1) 87.1 (84) 67.6 (67) 69.2 (67) 2.1 -19.5 1.5 -15.8
Level 2+ 58.5 (57.9) 60.9 (60.3) 54.5 (54.6) 57.6 (55.1) 2.4 -6.4 3.1 -0.9
5 A*-A 16.8 (16.6) 17.2 (15.9) 18.3 (16.8) 20.9 (18) 0.4 1.1 2.6 4.1
Level 2 Eng 70.2 (68.6) 71.1 (69.3) 62.5 (63.7) 65 (62.6) 0.9 -8.6 2.5 -5.2
Level 2 Cym 76.7 (75.2) 77.5 (75.1) 79.1 (74.2) 79.2 (74.3) 0.8 1.5 0.1 2.4
Level 2 Mat 63.6 (64.4) 66.5 (66.9) 62.4 (62.5) 65.3 (63.6) 2.9 -4.1 2.9 1.7
Level 2 Sci 85.5 (84) 85.9 (82.4) 80.3 (75.6) 63 (63) 0.4 -5.6 -17.3 -22.5

 Nearly all performance measures increased during the most recent academic year, with the only 
exception being Science. Please note that the definition of the performance measure for Science 
changed in the most recent year and direct comparisons to the previous year are not valid.

Level 2 Threshold inc EWM
 The Level 2+ threshold increased from the position seen in 2017, and now stands at 57.6%. All five 

LAs in the region saw an increase in the most recent year, with improvements of between 0.3pp 
and 5.9pp being seen across the Region.

 Over the latest three-year period, improvement can be seen in both the Vale of Glamorgan and 
Cardiff LAs, however, the regional picture shows a decrease of 0.9pp over this period, which 
compares against a National decrease of 2.8pp.

Tudalen 110



41

Year Bridgend VoG RCT Merthyr Cardiff CSC Wales
2015 59.7 64.9 54.6 51.9 59.3 58.5 57.9
2016 61.7 67.1 56.6 53.9 62.5 60.9 60.3
2017 53.0 60.4 49.8 42.4 58.5 54.5 54.6
2018 56.6 66.3 53.1 42.7 60.4 57.6 55.1
Change 15 to 16 1.9 2.1 2.0 2.0 3.2 2.4 2.3
Change 16 to 17 -8.7 -6.7 -6.7 -11.5 -4.1 -6.4 -5.6
Change 17 to 18 3.6 5.9 3.3 0.3 1.9 3.1 0.5
Change 15 to 18 -3.1 1.4 -1.5 -9.2 1.1 -0.9 -2.8

Tudalen 111



42

1.5 KEY STAGE 5

 Improvement
 2015 2016 2017 2018 16 17 18

Overall 
Improvement 
for 3 years

Level 3 Threshold 97.4 (97) 97.7 (98) 97.4 (97.1) 97.9 (97.6) 0.3 -0.3 0.5 0.5
Average Wider 
Points Score

808.7 
(799.7)

830.2 
(823.2)

736.1 
(730.6)

754.9 
(740.1) 21.5 -94.1 18.7 -53.8

3 A*-A Grades 6.8 (7.9) 7.4 (6.7) 11.8 (10.5) 15 (13.4) 0.6 4.4 3.3 8.3
3 A*-C Grades 68.5 (68.1) 73 (70.6) 56.6 (54.7) 61.9 (57.9) 4.5 -16.4 5.3 -6.6

 Increases are evident for all performance measures at Key Stage 5 in the most recent year.
 The Region exceeds the National average for all four performance measures in the most recent 

year.

Level 3 Threshold

 The Level 3 Threshold for the region has increased for the most recent academic year, to its’ 
highest ever position. 



Tudalen 112



43

Year Bridgend VoG RCT Merthyr Cardiff CSC Wales
2015 97.6 98.4 97.0 - 96.9 97.4 97.0
2016 98.3 98.3 97.0 - 97.6 97.7 98.0
2017 98.1 98.1 96.3 - 97.5 97.4 97.1
2018 98.3 98.8 96.2 - 98.4 97.9 97.6
Change 15 to 16 0.7 -0.1 0.0 - 0.7 0.3 1.0
Change 16 to 17 -0.3 -0.2 -0.7 - 0.0 -0.3 -0.8
Change 17 to 18 0.2 0.7 -0.1 - 0.9 0.5 0.4
Change 15 to 18 0.6 0.4 -0.8 - 1.5 0.5 0.6

1.6 eFSM PERFORMANCE

FOUNDATION PHASE:  Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator

 FPOI O5+
 eFSM nFSM Diff Wales Diff
2014/15 76.0 91.0 -15.0 -14.9
2015/16 78.7 91.4 -12.8 -14.3
2016/17 78.6 91.2 -12.6 -14.3
2017/18 71.9 88.1 -16.2 -18.2

 The performance of both eFSM and non eFSM has fallen in the most recent year for FPOI, 
however, the performance of eFSM pupils has fallen at a faster rate than the non eFSM pupils, 
and therefore, the gap has widened for this performance measure.

KEY STAGE 2:  Core Subject Indicator

 CSI L4+
 eFSM nFSM Diff Wales Diff
2014/15 74.6 91.4 -16.8 -15.7
2015/16 77.9 92.3 -14.5 -14.3
2016/17 79.1 92.9 -13.8 -15.1
2017/18 80.7 92.5 -11.9 -14.2

 The gaps in performance between eFSM and non eFSM pupils has decreased for all performance 
measures at both the expected level and above-expected level in the most recent year. 

 The performance of eFSM pupils has increased for all performance measures at both the expected 
level and above-expected level in the most recent, but the performance on non eFSM pupils is 
more variable. 

 At the expected level, non eFSM performance fell for all performance measures (with the 
exception of Mathematics, where there was no change in performance). 

 Whilst at the above expected-level, improvements are seen for English, and Mathematics, but 
drops in performance are seen for Cymraeg and Science for non eFSM pupils.

Tudalen 113



44

KEY STAGE 3:  Core Subject Indicator

 
CSI L5+

 eFSM nFSM Diff Wales Diff
2014/15 67.2 87.9 -20.7 -22.2
2015/16 70.7 90.7 -20.0 -20.4
2016/17 71.0 91.7 -20.8 -20.3
2017/18 72.5 92.4 -19.9 -19.5

 For the Core Subject Indicator, the gap in performance between eFSM and non eFSM pupils has 
narrowed to its lowest position seen over the previous four years. In addition, the gap has 
narrowed whilst performance has increased for both pupil groups in the most recent academic 
year.

 At a subject level, the performance of eFSM pupils has increased for nearly all performance 
measures at level 5+, level 6+ and level 7+. The only exceptions are Cymraeg L6+ and Science L5+ 
where performance fell in the most recent year, but both are still above the position seen in 2016.

 For level 5+, the gap in performance has narrowed for English, Cymraeg and mathematics, but 
widened for Science (where the performance of both eFSM and non eFSM pupils decreased in the 
most recent academic year).

 For level 6+, the rate of improvement for eFSM pupils exceeded that of non eFSM pupils, resulting 
in a narrowing of the gap for English, mathematics and science. The gap widened for Cymraeg due 
to the performance of eFSM pupils falling whilst the performance of non eFSM increased.

 For level 7+, the rate of improvement for eFSM pupils exceeded that of non eFSM pupils in 
Cymraeg and mathematics, seeing a narrowing of the gap for these measures. However, non eFSM 
improved at a faster rate than eFSM pupils in English and Science, seeing a widening of the 
performance gap for these two measures.

KEY STAGE 4:  Level 2 Threshold inc EWM

 
L2+ Threshold Diff (L2+ Threshold)

 eFSM Non eFSM CSC Wales

2014/15 31.7 65.1 -33.4 -32.4

2015/16 37.8 67.7 -29.9 -31.3

2016/17 29.3 61.7 -32.4 -32.3

2017/18 31.8 65.0 -33.3 -32.2

Tudalen 114



45

 The gap in performance between eFSM and non eFSM pupils in the region has increased for Level 
2+ Threshold. However, this is seen against increasing performance for both groups of pupils, but 
non eFSM pupils have improved at a faster rate in the most recent which has resulted in the 
increase of the gap. The National gap in performance seen for this performance measure is 
narrower than that for the Region.

Tudalen 115



46

APPENDIX B

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM (INSPECTION OUTCOMES) 

In order to ascertain where CSC provided value for money in 2017 – 2018, an analysis of inspection 
outcomes across the region (2017 – 2018 only) has been produced.

A new inspection framework was introduced in September 2017 for all schools, independent specials 
colleges, pupil referral units and work-based learning providers. As part of these changes, the areas 
inspected changed and schools are now judged on the following five inspection areas:

1. Standards
2. Wellbeing and attitudes to learning
3. Teacher and Learning experiences
4. Care, support and guidance
5. Leadership and management.

School continue to be judged on a four-point scale, and these are slightly revised to be:

 Excellent – Very strong, sustained performance and practice
 Good – Strong features, although minor aspects may require improvement
 Adequate and needs improvement – Strengths outweigh weaknesses, but important aspects 

require improvement
 Unsatisfactory and needs urgent improvement – Important weaknesses outweigh strengths

The inspection team will consider whether the school requires any follow-up activity, during the 
inspection, and the three types of follow-up activities are: 

 Estyn Review (formerly Estyn monitoring)
 Significant Improvement
 Special Measures

The inspection team may also judge that a school/provider has excellent practice in a particular area 
of its work. If this is the case, the inspection team will invite the school/provider to write a case study 
which may be published on the Estyn website.

Tudalen 116



47

LOCAL AUTHORITY (INSPECTION OUTCOMES) 

The number of schools inspected differs every year. The table below shows the number of schools 
that have been inspected in Central South Consortium over the last five academic years. 

LA 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
Bridgend 11 9 7 11 10
The Vale of Glamorgan 12 9 6 9 8
Rhondda Cynon Taf 23 24 19 16 20
Merthyr Tydfil 7 3 5 3 4
Cardiff 16 21 18 17 19
CSC 69 66 55 56 61

As the inspection areas have changed for 2017/18 inspections, no trend information will be provided 
for these sections.

1.1 INSPECTION AREAS 1-5 (ACROSS LOCAL AUTHORITES WITHIN CSC)

 The proportion of schools in Central South Consortium judged as either “Excellent or Good” is 
above the National proportion for Inspection Area 4 (IA4 – Care, Support and Guidance). However, 
the Region is below the National proportion of inspections judged as either “Excellent or Good” 
for the remaining four inspection areas.

 Both the Vale of Glamorgan and Merthyr Tydfil LAs have 100% of schools inspected judged to be 
either Excellent or Good for all Inspection Areas in the most recent year.

 Bridgend has the lowest proportion of schools judged to be either “Excellent or Good” in the 
Region for all five Inspection Areas in 2017/18. For IA3 (Teaching and Learning) and IA5 

Tudalen 117



48

(Leadership and Management) less than one in three schools inspected were judged as either 
“Excellent or Good” in 2017/18.

 Central South Consortium is the second lowest Region for the proportion of schools judged as 
either “Excellent or Good” for Inspection Areas 1, 2, 4 and 5, but is the lowest Region for Inspection 
Area 3 (Teaching and Learning) for the proportion of schools judged as either “Excellent or Good”.

The Inspection Data analysis included in this report has been sourced using the information available 
from www.data.estyn.gov.uk.

1.2 INSPECTION FOLLOW-UP (ACROSS LOCAL AUTHORITES WITHIN CSC)

 Central South Consortium has slightly fewer schools not placed into a follow-up activity than the 
National proportion. The proportion of schools placed into each follow-up activity are similar for 
CSC and Wales for Estyn Review and Significant Improvement, but CSC has a higher proportion of 
schools placed into Special Measures than seen nationally.

 In four of the five LAs in the Region, the majority of schools are not placed into any follow-up 
activity following their inspection.

 In Bridgend LA, 70% of schools inspected were placed into a follow-up activity, with:
o 40% of schools inspected being placed into Estyn Review (over twice the Regional and 

National proportions for this follow-up activity);
o 10% of schools inspected being placed in Significant Improvement (over twice the 

Regional and National proportions for this follow-up activity); and

Tudalen 118

http://www.data.estyn.gov.uk/


49

o 20% of schools inspected being placed in Special Measures (over four-times the Regional 
average and nearly seven-times the National average for this follow-up activity).

 Both the Vale of Glamorgan and Merthyr Tydfil LAs had no schools placed into a follow-up activity 
following their inspections.

 In Cardiff LA, over 25% of schools were placed in the follow-up activity of Estyn Review following 
their inspection, with no schools placed in either Significant Improvement or Special Measures.

 In Rhondda Cynon Taf, 25% of schools were placed into a follow-up activity, with 10% of schools 
placed in Estyn Review, a further 10% of schools requiring Significant Improvement and a further 
5% of schools placed into Special Measures.

 Central South Consortium has the second lowest proportion of schools not placed into any follow-
up activity when comparisons are made across the Regional Consortia. 

 Only EAS has proportionally more schools in each of the follow-up activities than CSC across all 
Regional consortia.

Tudalen 119



50

1.3 EXCELLENT PRACTICE CASE STUDY (ACROSS LOCAL AUTHORITES WITHIN CSC)

 Nearly four in ten schools inspected in the Region are invited to create an excellent practice case 
study following their inspection. This compares favourably to the National proportion of schools 
invited to create a case study of 32.5%. 

 75% of schools in the Vale of Glamorgan and 50% of schools in Merthyr Tydfil were invited to 
create case studies following their inspections in 2017/18. 

 Whilst Bridgend had the most schools placed into Estyn follow-up activities, 30% of the schools 
inspected were requested to create a case study following their inspection. 

 Only 20% of schools in RCT were invited to create case studies, the lowest proportion in the 
Region.

 Central South Consortium has the highest proportion of schools invited to create case studies 
when compared to the other Regional consortia. The Regional consortia proportions range from 
37.7% in Central South Consortium to 25.0% in EAS.

Tudalen 120



51

APPENDIX C 

CATEGORISATION

In order to ascertain where CSC provided value for money in 2017 – 2018, an analysis of categorisation 
of schools across the region (2017 – 2018 only) has been produced.

396 in the Region have National Categorisation Support Categories for both 2016/17 and 2017/18. Of 
these schools:

 24 schools moved down one support group (either from Green to Yellow, from Yellow to Amber 
or from Amber to Red.

 4 schools moved down two support groups (1 school Green to Amber and the second school 
moving from Yellow to Red).

 273 schools remained in the same support category
 92 schools moved up one support category (for example, from Yellow to Green); and finally
 3 schools moved up two support categories (for example from Red to Yellow). 

The following chart show the changes in National Categorisation Support Category for schools in 
Central South Consortium between 2016/17 and 2017/18.

Tudalen 121



52

APPENDIX D

ADDITIONAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES

1.1 ATTAINMENT BY GENDER

FOUNDATION PHASE

 At the expected level, the gap between the performance of boys and girls has narrowed for all 
performance measures with the exception of LCW. The gap in performance compares favourable 
against the gap in performance seen at the National level for all performance measures in the 
most recent year. However, performance has fallen for both boys and girls in all performance 
measures in the most recent year.

 At the above-expected level, the gap between the performance of boys and girls has narrowed for 
all performance measures regionally, with the gap nationally also narrowing for all measures with 
the exception of PSD. The gap regionally is narrower than that seen nationally for all measures. 
However, performance for both boys and girls has fallen for all performance measures regionally.

KEY STAGE 2

 At the expected level, girls out-perform boys in all indicators for the last four years. The gap in 
performance has widened in the most recent year for all indicators. 

 The performance of girls has increased for all performance measures at the expected level, but 
the performance of boys has decreased for all corresponding measures.

 At the above-expected level, girls out-perform boys in all subjects with the exception of 
Mathematics, where boys out-perform girls for the third consecutive year. 

 The gap in performance at the above-expected level has increased in English, with the gap 
narrowing for all other subjects in the most recent year.

KEY STAGE 3

 At level 5+, girls out-perform boys in all indicators for the last four years. The gap in performance 
has narrowed for the CSI and mathematics, against increasing performances for both boys and 
girls. However, the gap has increased for English, Cymraeg and science in the most recent year. 

 At level 6+, girls out-perform boys in all of the main performance measures with girls’ performance 
increasing or maintaining their position of 2017 for all four measures, and boys’ performance 
increasing for all four indicators. The gap in performance has narrowed for English and 
mathematics, but has increased in both Cymraeg and science.

 At level 7+, the performance of boys and girls has increased, with girls continuing to out-perform 
boys for all measures. The gap in performance has increased for all four measures at this level. 

KEY STAGE 4

 Girls continue to out- perform boys in all key indicators. The greatest difference in performance is 
in L2 English, with the smallest difference continuing to be seen in Level 2 Mathematics. The 
gender difference for the Region is smaller than that seen nationally for all performance measures.

Tudalen 122



53

KEY STAGE 5

 Girls out-performance for three of the four performance measures at Key Stage 5, with the only 
exception being seen in 3A*-A, where boys out-performance girls for the second consecutive year, 
but the gap has narrowed to 0.5pp for this performance measure in 2018. 

 Nationally, girls out-performance boys for every performance measure, but the gap in 
performance is smaller for the Region than seen nationally.

1.2 NEETs (b)

The Year 11 NEET figure for the region has continued to decrease. The figure in 2016/17 was 1.4% 
whilst the corresponding figure for the region in 2012/13 was 4.1%. Nationally, the figure in 2012/13 
was 3.7%, which has reduced to 1.6% in 2016/17. This is the second consecutive year that the region 
has a lower NEET figure that seen nationally, with the region now being 0.2pp below the national 
figure. 

The Year 12 NEETs figure has halved regionally in the most recent year from 1.6% in 2015/16 to 0.8% 
in 2016/17. The decrease nationally in the most recent year is 0.2pp 9from 1.2% to 1.0% in 2016/17). 
The region has a lower NEET figure than that seen nationally for the first time since 2008/09. 

The Year 13 NEETs figures has again decreased regionally in the most recent year, with a 0.8pp fall in 
the regional figure. The National decrease in the most recent year is 0.5pp. The gap between the 
region and Wales has decreased to 0.1pp in 2016/17, which equals the narrowest previous gap seen 
in 2012/13. 

(b) Please note that the 2016/17 NEETs data is the latest information available with information for 
2017/18 due to be released during Spring Term 2019.

Tudalen 123



tudalen wag



Document is Restricted

Tudalen 125

Agendwm 9
Ar gyfrif paragraff(au) 14 Rhan 1 o Atodlen 12A 
 o Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972.



tudalen wag



Document is Restricted

Tudalen 139

Agendwm 10
Ar gyfrif paragraff(au) 14 Rhan 1 o Atodlen 12A 
 o Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972.



tudalen wag


	Agenda
	2 Cofnodion
	3 Cynllun Busnes Drafft Consortiwm Canolbarth y De 2019–2020
	Blank Page

	4 Monitro'r Gyllideb 2018/19 - Y Newyddion Diweddaraf
	5 Adroddiad Grant
	6 Effeithlonrwydd ac Effeithiolrwydd Consortiwm Canolbarth y De (2017–18)
	Efficiency and Effectiveness Report of the CSC 2017-2018

	9 Teach First
	10 Cofrestr Risg

